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Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station

I. ADMINISTRATIVE SECTION

A. INTRODUCTION

The Point Reyes Light Station, consisting of nine contributing and four non-
contributing structures, is located on the scenic western headlands of the Point
Reyes National Seashore, Marin County, California. The earliest structures within
the complex were constructed in 1870.

Point Reyes National Seashore was established on September 13, 1962; in
1977 the light station was transferred from the U.S. Coast Guard to the National
Park Service. The Coast Guard operates an automated light and fog horn on the
headlands under a use agreement with the National Park Service.

The complex was determined eligible for the National Register of Historic
Places in 1980. Nomination documents were revised in 1989 and the light station
was placed on the National Register in August of 1990, The structures within the
Lighthouse District have been placed on the National Park Service List of Classified
Structures (LCS).

The historic light station structures are west watershed (PR-009), lower
watershed and cistern (PR-014), equipment building (PR-016), multi-purpose build-
ing/garage (PR-017), concrete watershed and cistern (PR-019), fuel and paint shed
(PR-022), pumphouse (PR-022), transformer building (PR-011), and lighthouse (PR-
025). As listed on the LCS, the management category for all structures except the
lighthouse is “should be preserved.” The lighthouse has been placed in the category
“must be preserved.” In addition, the LCS states that all structures except the light-
house will received preservation treatment; the lighthouse is to receive restoration
treatment.

B. MANAGEMENT AND PROPOSED USE OF THE STRUCTURES

The National Seashore General Management Plan (1980) calls for the preser-
vation and interpretation of the Lighthouse Complex. The Seashore’s Interpretive
Prospectus (1989), Statement for Management (1990), and the Cultural Resource
Plan (1987) also specifically state that the site should be preserved and interpreted
to the public.
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At present, the light station is open to the public and is a major visitor attrac-
tion within Point Reyes National Seashore. Approximately 300,000 visitors annually
are attracted to the historic district with 50,000 visitors entering the historic light-
house, some 300 stairs down to a lower platform. Exhibits have been added at sev-
eral locations to augment personal interpretive tours. The multi-purpose building
has been adaptively restored to provide a visitor center complete with exhibits.
None of the other historic structures have been altered or adapted for another use,

The use of the structures will remain the same in the future. As presented in
a variety of park documents, the light station is to be preserved and interpreted to
the public without additional adaptive restoration or alteration. The documents do
not call for any private or concession use of the structures in the future.

C. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

This Historic Structures Report (HSR) for the Point Reyes Light Station was
funded by a 1989 Bicentennial Lighthouse Grant administered by the California
Office of Historic Preservation. Public Law 100-446 earmarked Fiscal Year 1989
funds for the Bicentennial Lighthouse Fund.

Consistent with Seashore management and planning documents, the purpose

of this HSR is to provide guidance for management to ensure the long-term preserva-

tion and protection of the light station, specifically the lighthouse and equipment
building. These two structures are highlighted in the report because they are the
dominant buildings within the light station. More specific goals of this report are 1)
to provide recommendations for maintenance treatments to ensure preservation
maintenance is accomplished; 2) to gather into one document all existing pertinent
data for guiding future management actions; 3) to provide guidance for the restora-
tion of specific character-defining features of the structures (specifically, the light-
house) that enhance the integrity of the complex; and 4) to identify future research
needs and additional studies.

This report fulfills the requirements of the National Park Service Manage-
ment Policies (1988) and will assist in compliance with Section 106 of the National
Historic Preservation Act of 1966 and in the associated consultant process with the
State Office of Historic Preservation. The report is based on guidelines in NPS-49:
National Register Programs, NPS-28: Cultural Resource Management, and the
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Secretary of Interior’s Standards for Historic Preservation.

D. SUMMARY OF PROPOSED TREATMENTS AND
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE INVESTIGATIONS

The overall goal of proposed treatments for the lighthouse and equipment
building is to provide preservation maintenance for long-term protection. In sum-
mary, the recommended treatments for the lighthouse include repairing leaks at
lantern astragals, replacing glazing in first-level windows, restoring weather vane
base, restoring astragals to a original contrasting color, restoring painted wood floor
on first gallery level, and restoring ground-level entry door.

For the equipment building, the HSR recommends installing solar film on the
interior of all windows, mothballing all mechanical equipment, removing non-historic
and non-essential electrical equipment, painting mechanical and electrical compo-
nents, cleaning and painting all interior walls and ceiling, stripping and refinishing
all deteriorated clear wall finishes in the machinery room, restoring the rolling door
on the east elevation, and restoring the gauge board.

The HSR also recommends that further investigation be performed. A His-
toric Structure Preservation Guide (HSPQ), Historic American Engineering Record
documentation (HAER), and paint sampling documentation should be completed
when funds are available. These projects are essential to the continued preservation
of the light station.

E. STORAGE OF ARCHIVAL MATERIALS

All objects, documents, tapes, records, photographs, and negatives obtained in
the preparation of this document are now preserved in the museum collection of
Point Reyes National Seashore. The collection is housed within the Bear Valley
Visitor Center at Park Headquarters.
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II. HISTORY
A. INTRODUCTION

From the earliest history the wary mariner, skirting the coast of
California to the west of Drake’s Bay, has known and shunned a
certain bold headland, shrouded for the most part in fog, but in clear
weather revealed to him in all the awfulness if its rocks and preci-

pices, and perpetually churning waters. Punta de los Reyes--Point of
the Kings—the Spanish navigators named it, after the fwo royal

Infantes, and they did well to fear it. God help the hapless mariner
who drifts upon ith

Point Reyes, historically named Punta de los Reyes, is an odd-shaped penin-
sula that protrudes into the Pacific Ocean about 35 miles northwest of San Francisco.
The peninsula forms a triangle with Tomales Point on the north, Bolinas Point on
the south, and the most prominent, Point Reyes, on the west. The peninsula is
characterized by rolling hills covered by grass, brush or forest and surrounded by
beaches. Point Reyes itself, however, consists of an abrupt headland forming the
shape of an inverted "T." It is upon the westernmost tip of this headland that the
Point Reyes Light Station has stood for 120 years.

Since the earliest days of marine commerce Point Reyes has been both a sig-
nificant landmark and a hazard to mariners. Despite its geographic prominence,
Point Reyes is often shrouded in dense fog and is considered to be the windiest place
on the West Coast and one of the foggiest places in the United States, second to areas
on the East Coast. A wickedly heavy surf pounds Point Reyes Beach, directly north
of the headland. From the beginning of the Pacific shipping industry, Point Reyes
has taken its share of shipwrecks and close calls. Maritime historian Ralph Shanks
has provided an eerie description of harrowing conditions at Point Reyes:

Offshore, the ocean currents become confusing, moving in opposite
directions. The sea is deep, too, so that the early-day mariner could
not use a lead line to determine his depth or position. A breaking
beach and rocks often loom without warning. Worse, configurations
in the headlands and other causes make it difficult to hear the
warning blast of a fog horn when vessels approach from the north.
Stranding was a terrible prospect, for Point Reyes Beach may well
have the heaviest surf in California. Here, then, is a fitting grave-
yard for ships.?
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The long list of Point Reyes shipwrecks begins with perhaps the most famous,
that of the Manila galleon San Agustin in 1595, considered to be the first recorded
shipwreck on the California coast. Some of those that followed were the Oxford
(1855), Oregon (1860), Sea Nymph (1861), Monterey (1862), Bengal (1863), Norvick
(1863), Labouchere (1866), and S.F. Blunt (1868), to name a few. As commerce in-
creased along the California Coast, the need for aids to navigation also increased. In
response, the United States government overcame numerous obstacles and estab-
lished a light station at Point Reyes.

B. THE U.S. LIGHTHOUSE SERVICE TARGETS POINT REYES

The first plans for California lighthouses were drawn in 1849 when President
Zachary Taylor authorized the U.S. Coast Survey to recommend lighthouse sites
along the coast of the new territory. Of sixteen sites the Survey recommended--with
Point Reyes ranked second--the government contracted for construction of only
eight, and did not include Point Reyes. In 1852 Congress transferred administration
of the country’s lighthouses from the Treasury Department to the Lighthouse Board,
opening the way to provide much-needed improvements towards the safety of the
country’s burgeoning maritime industry. Point Reyes was in the West Coast area
designated as the Twelfth District.®

After construction had begun or been completed on the eight other California
sites. Congress appropriated $25,000 on August 3, 1854 for a light station at Point
Reyes. Of the appropriation, $10,000 was for illuminating apparatus and $15,000 for
construction. The next month Point Reyes appeared on a map of the coast near San
Francisco Bay, where the government reserved the tract of land "for Light House
purposes.” Inspector of the Twelfth District, Captain Campbell Graham, was in-
formed in the following February that a lighthouse at Point Reyes was to receive pri-
ority for construction and that he should proceed with plans to erect the station as
soon as possible. A letter from the Lighthouse Board explains where some of the
pressure was coming from:

This light is asked for by the navigating interests, & it has been
represented to be of great importance--which is not so readily
understood when it isremembered that the point isso very near the
Farallones, 1st order--Point Bonita 2nd order and the Point Lobos,

el =




ey R s om MW Qe BN M N Wt G g

Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station

which will be 2nd or 3rd order apparatus. The site has been
selected—-land reserved and the Inspector instructed to use all
diligence in arranging for the commencement of the work.*

By June of 1855 Captain Graham had arranged a contract for the construction
under the supervision of Major Hartman Bache of the Corps of Topographical Engi-
neers. The contractor, William Nagle, was to build a second order flashing signal in a
tower like that at the Farallones and a keeper’s dwelling similar to one at Point
Bonita for the sum of $10,500.

One detail remained unresolved: the United States did not have title to the
land. This detail turned into a major obstacle that resulted in a fifteen-year delay in
construction of the lighthouse, at the probable expense of almost a million dollars in
maritime losses at Point Reyes.

C. TITLE LITIGATION AT POINT REYES, 1855-1869

Most of the Point Reyes peninsula was unclaimed in 1840 when Antonio Osio
applied to the Mexican governor for the 48,000-acre "Rancho Punta de los Reyes,
Sobrante." The land had been under the distant stewardship of the Mission San
Rafael from the time of its establishment in 1817 to 1834, when Mexican authorities
disbanded the mission. The governor approved Osio’s grant on November 20, 1843.
Nine years later Osio sold the ranch to Andrew Randall, a prominent San Francisco
doctor, politician and investor, for $25,000. Randall occupied the land with his family
for a short time but often left it in the hands of a superintendent named Josiah
Swain. Although the United States Land Commission confirmed Randall’s title to
the land in 1855, his reckless land investments around the state aroused trouble with
creditors, many of whom had moved to foreclose on the property.

One creditor took the extreme step: on July 23, 1856, in a rage over a debt, Jo-
seph Hetherington approached Randall in a San Francisco hotel and killed him with
arevolver. Vigilantes subsequently hanged Hetherington in front of a huge crowd.
Randall’s widow was left with a $237,000 debt and land that was "hopelessly mired in
litigation."

At the height of the battle over Point Reyes during 1856 and 1857, at least
three different parties claimed to own the property due to the fraudulent settlement
of liens against the property. One, Dr. Robert McMillan, had the financial resources
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to hire one of the premier law firms in San Francisco, Shafter, Shafter, Park and
Heydenfeldt, and to pay off the liens on the land. McMillan won the property title in
court in 1858 and the Shafter law firm took over the ranch after paying McMillan
$70,000 and Randall’s widow $14,700.

Brothers Oscar and James Shafter, natives of Vermont, bought out their
partners Park and Heydenfeldt in 1858 and undertook to establish a series of dairy
ranches at Point Reyes. The Shafter brothers were instrumental in the long delay in
getting the lighthouse built at Point Reyes.

D. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE POINT REYES LIGHTHOUSE

While the land title was in dispute, the Lighthouse Board could only sit and
wait. Design work had commenced but on October 24, 1855, the Board ordered all
work suspended until the U.S. government officially acquired the land. Bache tried
to clear up the disputes and secure title during the winter of 1855-566. On March 18,
1856 a deed was drawn up for an 83-acre parcel for sale to the government by Tho-
mas G. Richards of San Francisco, one of the claimants who at that time had ap-
peared to have gained legal title. Then, according to historian Anna Coxe Toogood:

On March 19 Bache wrote to [Lighthouse Board] Secretary Jenkins
to explain that Richards had first offered to sell for $2000. Consid-
ering $1500 an ample price for the land and a right of way from
Drakes Bay, Bache had counter-offered $1000, which Richards had
declined to accept. The two parties reached an agreement the next
month, however, and on May 2 Bache forwarded the deed to the
United States Attorney General for approval.®

Unfortunately, the transaction did not work out. While the District Attorney for
Northern California and the U.S. Attorney General worked out details, the land
changed hands again, ending up with the Shafters.

Meanwhile, Bache pressed ahead on design and construction details. In Sep-
tember 1855 the Lighthouse Board shipped twenty-nine cases of second-order illumi-

nating apparatus from the East Coast, which arrived on the West Coast the following

spring. The lighthouse lantern was to be completed by Hayward, Bartell and Com-
pany of Baltimore, Maryland, but Nagle’s construction bid for the house and tower
had to be put on hold pending confirmation of title. In late 1859 the Lighthouse
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Board’s engineer submitted plans for a California Cottage-type house with the tower
enclosed on the west side, facing the ocean. These plans were eventually abandoned
as years passed with no title being transferred to the United States.”

Oscar and James Shafter were both knowledgeable and crafty in their land
dealings. After they gained title in 1858 they asked what the Lighthouse Board con-
sidered an exorbitant amount of money for the land and right-of-way for the light-
house. Although the California legislature passed an act in 1859 providing "for the
relinquishment to the United States, in certain cases, to title in lands, for sites of
lighthouses and for other purposes,” the government took no action against the Shaf-
ters for a decade, perhaps due to their stature in state politics: besides being power-
ful lawyers, Oscar held a seat on the state supreme court and James had been
elected a state senator. The Shafters’ stubbornness enraged California Senator
William Gwin, who spoke before the U.S. Senate on April 19, 1860 to plead the Point
Reyes case:

There is a lighthouse that ought to have been built at Point Reyes
years ago. We had an appropriation of $25,000. The parties owning
the ground, knowing the necessity of having a lighthouse there,
asked $25,000 for three and two-thirds acres, the amount of the
entire appropriation, when it was not, in fact, worth twenty-five
cents an acre. The Lighthouse Board would not give it; and the
appropriation lapsed back into the Treasury. The commerce be-
tween California and Oregon is suffering constantly for want of that
lighthouse.®

As if heeding Gwin’s advice, Congress appropriated an additional $40,000 for the
lighthouse and $2,500 for a fog signal in 1860, and another $15,000 in 1867. Lt. Col.
R. S. Williamson, the Twelfth District engineer, dealt with the Shafters and their
new partner, Charles Webb Howard, over a price for the land. The Lighthouse Board
authorized Williamson, who felt the the land was “intrinsically worthless” except as
a lighthouse site, to make an offer of $5,000. Historian Toogood noted:

The negotiations were complicated by the fact that the District
Attorney, Delos Lake, advised Williamson that the new proposal
from the Shaftersand Howard to sell the twenty-three acres atissue
for $10,000 was not far from what a jury would appraise the land.
Furthermore, the owners, in their letter of July 8 [1868], warned
that they were on the verge of disposing of their lands; if they did so
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without making a deed for the lighthouse, negotiations would then
have to be continued with the new owners, causing yet further

delays.®

In November 1868 Williamson received clearance from the Lighthouse Board
to instigate condemnation proceedings against the Shafters and Howard. An adver-
tisement stating such was run in the Marin County newspapers for four months as
required. Meanwhile the Shafters made a counter-offer of $6,000, a sum supported
by the Board of Marine Underwriters in San Francisco. No doubt in an attempt to
move the project along, the underwriters had formed a committee to investigate the
dangerous delays in getting the lighthouse built. They provided to the Lighthouse
Board a list of shipwrecks at Point Reyes since 1860, which had resulted in over
three-quarters of a million dollars in losses,

The Lighthouse Board authorized Williamson to accept the Shafters’ price in
January of 1869 and a deed was signed on July 28 of that year. The sale gave the
U.S. government 83 acres for the lighthouse reservation, "together with a convenient
embarcadero on Drakes Bay and the right to land at any point between Drakes Bay
and the tract herein conveyed, and a convenient right of way between the two; a per-
petual right of access across to the beach on the north side of the point for firewood,
and the perpetual right to take the same for the use of the Light House Keepers for
fuel; a perpetual right to take water from the spring most convenient to said Light
House site, and the right to take materials from the Granite quarry on the Bay
aforesaid to be used in the erection of such portions of the Light House and other
buildings connected therewith as it may become desirable to build of stone." After
fifteen years of frustration, the construction could now begin."

At the close of fiscal year 1869 the Lighthouse Board had $49,288.12 set aside
for construction and had asked Congress for an additional appropriation of $45,000,
which was granted on July 15 of the next year. Phineas T. Marston, a carpenter
from Maine who had specialized in church building and had been recently appointed
Superintendent of Lighthouse Construction on the West Coast, received the contract
for site preparation and construction of the keepers dwelling.!!

10
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E. CONSTRUCTION OF THE LIGHTHOUSE AND FOG SIGNAL

The contractor’s first task, begun in the latter part of January 1870, was to
build a road from the designated landing at Drakes Bay (at today’s fish docks) to the
lighthouse site, a distance of about three miles. Starting at a sheltered cove behind
the east headland of Point Reyes, the road wound up a steep hillside and through a
part of the pasture land of one of Charles Webb Howard’s dairies, designated "A
Ranch." Passing near the dairy complex, where the road to Olema (about 20 miles
distant) and San Rafael headed north, the lighthouse road then went up a steep hill
to the sandy top of the west headland, where it traversed areas alternately composed
of sand and rock. The road terminated at the site of the keeper’s dwelling, the first
building to be constructed.

Originally, the area at the top of the bluff near the dwelling site had been ear-
marked as the site of the lighthouse, with the dwelling incorporated in the structure
in a style typical of the East Coast light stations. This location, however, had a seri-
ous flaw: there was no visibility in the typical heavy fogs. At the request of the
Lighthouse Board, the United States Coast Survey sent its talented surveyor, George
Davidson, to Point Reyes in June 1869, to look at the situation. Davidson, well ac-
quainted with the California coast after almost twenty years in charge of the Pacific
Coast survey, traveled to Point Reyes via ferry from San Francisco to San Quentin
and stagecoach to Olema. The next day Davidson and fellow surveyors Edward C.
Cordell and Augustus F. Rodgers hired a wagon and proceeded to the foggy Point
Reyes headlands.'

Davidson had been convinced as early as 1853 that Point Reyes needed a light
at a location low on the cliffside, due to the heavy fogs there that "lift" just enough for
a lighthouse at a certain elevation to be seen by a ship. So, departing from the pro-
posed lighthouse site down the steep ridge to the west, the party "followed the sharp,
jagged ridge of the head below the old location to a shelving, projecting point about
275 feet beneath it." There they found a suitable location where "with very little
labor in taking away the sloping and higher part (27 feet) of the point to the north
eastward, sufficient space can be had for a light house of the size of that at Men-
docino.”

Using a hand level and compass, Davidson figured that the new location was
225 feet above sea level and offered a superior arc of visibility. In his official letter to
his superior, Superintendent Benjamin Peirce of the U.S. Coast Survey, Davidson

11
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stated: "This location commends itself so soon as seen, and we recommend that it be
adopted as the site for the proposed light . . . the rock is solid, and when the spur is
levelled off there appears no reason to doubt its adaptability as a safe and sure foun-
dation." He added, "We especially and earnestly recommend that a powerful fog
trumpet or steam whistle be placed on the ledge below any selected location. In very
thick weather it will be of greater use than the light itself." To confirm these recom-
mendations, Davidson had recently distributed circulars to mariners asking for com-
ments about peculiarities of the location and experiences in navigating the Point
Reyes area.

Davidson also recommended that the light be a facsimile of the recently com-
pleted light at Cape Mendocino in Humboldt County to the north. He also com-
mented on the state of the road from the proposed landing ("The road. .. is practi-
cable with little grading”) and the lack of a dwelling site within view of the proposed

light tower ("But sufficient space immediately adjacent to the tower may be made for

a small house for watching, working and sleeping quarters"). Davidson, Cordell and
Rodgers left a mound of stones at their chosen site and returned to San Francisco.

Inspector of Hydrography Carlisle Patterson disputed Davidson’s recommen-
dations, and the Army Corps of Engineers concurred. Patterson felt that the tower
should be placed even further down the cliff at a possibly higher cost. "A cheap light-
house," he argued, "in a comparatively useless place, is a wasteful expenditure." The
Lighthouse Board accepted Davidson’s recommendation, however, and ordered con-
struction to begin.!

Preparation of the lighthouse site, on the rocky cliff to the west of the dwell-
ing site, proved to be a laborious and dangerous, and hence, an expensive task. Near
the end of January crews blasted and graded a route down the cliff, then leveled a
section of the cliff to accommodate erection of the tower. A tramway was built to
carry tools and materials down the cliff to the lighthouse site. This tramway, con-
sisting of a ramp skirting the north side of the wooden stairway upon which a cable-

controlled cart operated, continued in practical use after construction was completed.

Historic photographs have pictured a railway system at the top of the stairs, which
could have been an original portion of the tramway system. Presumably handcarts
traversed the area between the keepers dwelling and the top of the stairs on these
rails; the rails appear in photographs into the 1920s.

Marston hired a second group of laborers in April 1870 to build the keepers
dwelling on a site about 450 feet east of the top of the tramway. A 217-foot-long
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retaining wall had to be built to provide a level space for the yard and garden for the
keeper; the stone for this wall was probably taken from the Drakes Bay granite
quarry mentioned in the 1869 deed. Workers then backfilled the wall, forming a
large level yard. A wind fence erected on the top of the wall extended around the
north and west sides of the house. Extensive grading to the south of the house
produced a wide passageway needed to reach the lighthouse steps.

Carpenters built a two-story frame house, according to an official description
at the time, "in the most thorough and substantial manner, [and] the materials of
which it is built are of the best quality.” The house featured a brick cellar and "was
well-painted, inside and outside, with three coats of paint." Fences and outbuildings
were whitewashed, no doubt giving the keepers complex a new and tidy appearance.
A four-foot high fence, 1300 feet long and also whitewashed, was built some distance
to the east of the dwelling to mark the boundary of the lighthouse reservation.
While the dwelling occupied a somewhat protected spot on the headland, winds
wreaked havoc during and after the construction, as reported later in a newspaper:

Time and again, it is said, the workmen engaged in the construction
of the buildings had their tools blown away, and once the breeze
lifted bodily a carpenter’s kit and hurled it over the cliff. A stiffish
gale unroofed the keeper’s house soon after its completion.™

In August, Marston completed the dwelling contract and the first keeper, John C.
Bull, and his wife, Melissa, moved into the house.'

Joseph Bien, a San Francisco machinist who had recently completed the light-
house at Cape Mendocino (Point Reyes’ only "sister" lighthouse, being practically
identical), received a contract to construct the tower and install the lighting appara-
tus in April 1870. As the only man qualified in the state to build a lighthouse to gov-
ernment specifications, Bien was well paid at his own request, a fact that irked engi-
neer Williamson. To be paid according to the weight of the iron tower, at eighteen
cents per pound, Bien set to work fabricating the heavy sections of tower wall while
waiting for the French-made lens apparatus to arrive via steamer from the East.

The shipment eventually arrived but with a case of prisms missing, causing a frantic
search during July and August by the engineer and the shipper, the Pacific Steam-
ship Company. Someone found the missing case in time so as to not delay the assem-
bly of the lantern.®

After making three specified alterations on the tower and repairing damage to
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the lens apparatus suffered during shipment, Bien was ready to ship the parts to
Point Reyes by September 15, 1870. The boxed parts arrived by steamer at the
Drakes Bay landing; crews hauled them up the road to the bluff above the lighthouse
site on October 9. A crew of seven men hired for the occasion then lowered the
tower parts and apparatus down the tramway to the construction site. The tower’s
bed plates were attached to bolts embedded in the rock-and-concrete foundation that
had been laid on the site.”

In little over a month and a half the lighthouse reached completion; a notice to
mariners dated November 1870 announced that the light would begin operation on
December 1, 1870, with characteristics being a white light flashing every five seconds
from a white tower located 273 feet above mean sea level, visible from a distance of
twenty-three and a half miles at sea when looking from a ship’s deck fifteen feet
above the water. According to the notice, bearings could be fixed with the light-
houses at Point Bonita, twenty-seven and a half miles southeast, at South Farallon
Island, seventeen and three-quarters nautical miles south and east, and at Point
Arena, sixty-seven miles northwest.!®

An excellent description of the lighthouse appeared ten years after its con-
struction in a detailed history of Marin County published in 1880:

The station is Number 495, and the light is a first order Funk’s [sic:
correct spellingis Funck’s] Hydraulic Float. There are four circular
wicks in the lamp, whose diameters are as follows: Three and one-
half inches, two and one-half inches, one and three-fourths of an
inch, and seven-eighths of an inch. The lamp consists of two
chambers for oil, one above the light and one below. The oil is
pumped from the lower into the upper, whence it passes through a
chamber in which there is a regulating float, which governs the flow
of oil to the lamp. The flow of oil is in excess of the amount
consumed to the extent of one hundred and twenty drops each
minute. The object of this is to prevent the charring of the wick.
This overflow isconducted to the lower chamber, and pumped again
into the upper. In this way there isno wastage. The upper chamber
is pumped full of oil every two hours. This is what is known as a
“flash[ing] light,” i.e., the lenses revolve around the light in such a
manner that the focus of each lens appears as a flash. There are
twenty-four of these focal lenses, and the entire revolution is made
in two minutes, thus causing the flashes to appear every five
seconds. A very complete reflecting arrangement is constructed
about the light, so that every ray is brought to the focal plane, and
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passes thence across the surging billows to warn the mariner of
dangers, and o guide him safely into the quiet harbor. These
reflectors consist of a series of large glass prisms, divided into
segments, varying in length as they approach the apex of the cone.
Of these prisms there are eight horizontal series above the lenses,
and the same number below them. Then there are eighteen series
on the concave surface above the light, and eight series on the
concave surface below, making a total of forty-two series of reflect-
ing prisms, and the height of the reflecting apparatus, including the
lenses, is eight feet and ten inches, and it is five feet and six inches
in diameter. Viewed from the outside, the outlines are very similar
to a mammoth pineapple. The reflector is revolved by a clock-work
arrangement, and requires weight of one hundred and seventy-five
pounds to drive the machinery. Thereis agovernor attached to the

gearing for the purpose of regulating the motion and speed of the

revolvingreflector. This weight requires to be wound up every two

hours and twenty minutes. The lenses are of the La Pute patent,

and the gearing was made by Barbiere & Fenestre, in Paris, in 1867.

Thislight is on asixteen-sided iron tower, and it istwenty-three feet

from the base of the tower to the focal plane. It is two hundred and

ninety-six feet above the sealevel, and can be seen at sea a distance

of twenty-four nautical miles. It illuminates an arc of two hundred

and eighty-five degrees. The oil used is refined lard oil, and the

yearly supply at this station is seven hundred and sixty gallons. The

lamp will consume seventeen pints of oil, on an average, every ten

hours.'®

The lighthouse went into operation as scheduled on December 1, 1870.

F. THE FOG SIGNAL

Congress had appropriated $2,500 for a fog signal at Point Reyes as early as
1860. Planning did not begin in earnest until the lighthouse was under construction
in the summer of 1870. Two major design considerations had to be contended with:
first, the height of the signal, which determines its effectiveness, had to be decided
and an appropriate and feasible location found on the precipitous ledge; and second,
the fact that no water source could be found within two miles of the proposed steam-
powered fog signal, a fact which proved to be costly in more ways than one.

While engineer Williamson wanted to begin construction of the fog signal as
soon as possible, his superiors in Washington asked that he wait until the next spring
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when the weather would improve. Williamson, as well as members of the Coast
Survey, mindful that Point Reyes held the record as the foggiest point on the West
Coast, also objected to the Lighthouse Board’s insistence that the facility be driven
by steam, stating that, "this Point, above all others on the coast, should have a first
class fog signal." Williamson also felt that the water shortage at Point Reyes would
create an impossible situation, and that a system involving a coal-driven engine
powering a compressor which sounds a fog trumpet was a superior design. The
Lighthouse Board did not agree, and early in 1871, construction began on a coal-fired,
steam-powered fog signal under contractor Marston. Upon completion of the project
the Board published a report of the construction. The report stated: '

On February 1 the work of preparing a site for the Steam Fog-signal
at this station was commenced. A large cistern was constructed,
which, with a basin around it, will hold 100,000 gallons. A water-
shed, ten thousand square feet in area, was made, from which water
enough will be collected in a year to fill the cistern, even in a season
in which the rain fall will be much below the average.

The water from the cistern is conducted to the Fog-signal by means
of a galvanized iron pipe, which is securely fastened to the sides of
the cliff. A chute hasbeen built from thesite of the tower to the Fog-
signal. The chute is constructed in the most substantial manner,
and is for the purpose of conveying fuel to the Fog-signal. A winding
roadway has been constructed from the cliff to the signal site. Much
blasting was done before it was completed. The work of preparing
the site for the signal-house, coal shed, &c, was very slow, difficult
and dangerous. Huge masses of rocks overhanging the signal site
had tobe blasted off, so that at the rear of the signal is a vertical wall
of rock, one hundred feet high. An iron railing was put around the
edges of the plot prepared for the signal, to keep any one from
rolling off into the sea, as on all seaward sides of the signal the cliff
is very steep and jagged.

On June 12 the work of taking the boiler and signal apparatus from
the top of the cliff down to its position was successfully accom-
plished. The boiler was put in position, the apparatus fitted to it,
and on June 14 the signal was tried and found to work satisfactorily.
On June 30 the work of housing the boiler and signal apparatus was
completed.

The signal is now ready for operation, and can be started as soon as
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the rains of next winter shall have sufficientlyfilled the cistern with
water. The work of establishing this Fog-signal has been, from the
nature of the location, very expensive and dangerous.?

The 1880 county history described the operation of the fog signal in great
detail:

The fog-whistle is located one hundred feet lower down on the cliff
[from the lighthouse] in a little notch hewn out of the face of the
rock. The building is twenty-four by thirty, and there are two
boilers, each sustaining a pressure of seventy-five pounds. The
blasts recur once every minute, and last eight seconds. The ar-
rangement is automatic and governed by a small engine. The
whistle is constructed on a principle similar to ordinary locomotive
whistles, only on a much larger scale, the bell or cap being twelve
inches in diameter. Everything is duplicated so if any piece of
machinery should give away, no loss of time would be sustained.
Fuel saturated with petroleum is kept in the furnace at all times so
that steam may be gotten up at amoment’s notice night or day, and
the whistle set to goingin avery short time. The water supply pipe
connects direct with the boilers from the tank which is three
hundred and fifty feet above, and the pressure is two hundred and
thirty-six pounds to the inch. The fuel and all supplies are sent
down on a chute from the top of the cliff. There are a series of stairs
leading from the keeper’s house to the light-house and fog-whistle,
in all of which there are nine hundred and sixty-five steps. Along
most of the stairway a guard rail has been set up to to prevent the
wind from carrying the keepers into the ocean in their passage up
or down.?

The signal went into operation as planned, but a fire reportedly caused by
spontaneous combustion suddenly silenced it on the night of April 28, 1872. The fire
destroyed the building and damaged the machinery. On June 10, $10,000 was appro-
priated to make repairs, which were soon commenced. A Mr. Wheeler and his five-
man crew arrived July 7 on the U.S. steamer Fern and spent almost two months
rebuilding the fog signal. The operation included blasting a large overhanging rock
that threatened the site. Then, in September, a storage building containing 600
sacks of coal burned and was a total loss.?

Other problems surfaced, the lack of water being the greatest. The rebuilt fog
signal could barely operate during 1873 due to a lack of water. The watershed was
enlarged by some 5,000 square feet in 1875, but still the cistern ran out of water
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during the fall, requiring over 20,000 gallons of water to be hauled to the tank by the
local dairyman Hochreuter of A Ranch nearby, working as contract labor. The firing
of the boilers required about 140 pounds of coal per hour, or 42 tons during 1875, all
of which had to be carried to the precipitous site from the landing. At times the
whistle could not be heard by passing ships, whether due to adverse conditions or
light station crew errors. Technicians improved the machinery in 1877, and dupli-
cate first class sirens replaced the whistle in April 1880.%2 Inspector Williamson
urged installation of the sirens when he wrote to the Lighthouse Board:

Great complaint has been made, and is now made of the inefficiency
of the signal at this place, which at times cannot be heard a mile
distant; this, too, when the signal is being properly run with a
pressure of from 65 to 70 pounds. I have frequently investigated
complaints made by masters of vessels of not hearing the signal
when passing within a mile of it in thick weather; and I am
convinced that the fault does not lie in the way the signal is run, but
somethingin the signal itself or its locations. Point Reyes is one of
the most important points on the coast, and the needs of navigation
require that its fog-signal should be in efficiency second to none.*

After adding more water storage and replacing the boilers to accommodate the
new sirens, the fog signal operated relatively well until 1890, when two twelve-inch
whistles replaced the sirens. Subsequent improvements to the water system in-
cluded addition of a 35,000 gallon tank in 1896, 6,000 square feet of watershed and a
25,000 gallon tank in 1900 and a massive 40,000 gallon redwood tank in 1907. No se-
rious problems were recorded after the initial mishaps and shortcomings of the sig-
nal’s first two decades.®®

G. OPERATION OF THE LIGHTHOUSE, 1870-1939

Evidently the lighthouse itself had none of the major problems during its 105-
year career that the fog signal had seen. The light, a precise mechanism operating a
finely crafted lens housed in a sturdy iron tower, was subjected primarily to a rigor-
ous maintenance schedule and improvements in efficiency, none of which radically
changed the lighthouse structure itself. A telegraph communication system was
created between the dwellings, lighthouse and fog signal in 1876. The tower and
illuminating apparatus received "slight” repairs in 1881, and in September 1887 origi-
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nal builder Joseph Bien, working as a Lighthouse Service machinist, replaced the
lard-oil wick lamps with ones that burned kerosene (mineral oil). The San Francisco
Chronicle described the new system shortly after it was installed:

The improved mechanism has five circular wicks, varying in diame-
ter from one and one-eighth to four and one-half inches. The flame
is of dazzling brilliancy, it being impossible to look at it from the
tower without smoked glasses, and the heat inside the lantern is
intense. From the single reservoir the oil is forced up by the
"plunger,"” a weight of 120 pounds, through a tube into the wicks.
The care of the lamps--thanks to the new apparatus--is a compara-
tively simple matter. In the morning the keeper has only to fill the
reservoir with mineral oil, raise the plunger to the top of the
reservoir and close the faucet in the tube. At night he opens the
faucet, the plunger descends, the oil is forced up throught the tube
into the float chamber and from thence to the wicks. The lamp
requires no trimming during the night. Alittle before daybreak the
keeper closes the faucet, opens the damper in the draught pipe
(which connects with the top of the chimney, and regulates the
height of the flame) and lets the light burn itself out. He then
removes the chimney, wraps it in flannel until it is entirely cold,
wipes the ash from the wicks and all is done.”

In 1889 a new coal and oil storehouse was built to replace an older one on a
flat just above the tower. This building was in turn torn down in 1928 to accommo-
date the equipment building. Also in 1889 a steel clock cord replaced the traditional
fiber cord. No other major work occurred on the tower until after the turn of the
century, when the 1906 earthquake bent the upper and lower guide-roller spindles
and displaced the lamp stand in the lighthouse, damage which was repaired immedi-
ately.?

While most of the construction and improvements during the 1870s centered
around the fog signal, the 1880s saw attention focused on the lighthouse reservation
in general. The extreme weather at Point Reyes quickly took its toll on buildings
and structures. Although assigned thorough and strict maintenance procedures, the
underpaid keepers had a great deal of trouble keeping up with the elements. In 1877
an inspector found the station "in anything but a creditable condition showing in
many cases want of care and attention."®

Extensive repairs and improvements were made at the reservation during
1880 and 1881, including construction of storehouses at the landing and the light-
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house, additional watershed and water storage tanks, and general improvements to
the dwelling, yards, roads and fences. The Lighthouse Board had two new keepers
dwellings, called cottages, built opposite the original dwelling in the spring of 1885 at
a cost of $5,787.35. The additional housing provided private quarters to each of the
four keepers, all of whom had previously lived in the original dwelling; now the
second and third assistants would reside in the cottages. Carpenters constructed a
barn on the approach road to the reservation in 1887, evidently to house the govern-
ment horse. Telegraph communications reached the light station in 1888.

Apparently all went well at the light station until August 20, 1885, when the
British bark, Haddingtonshire wrecked on Point Reyes Beach just north of the light-
house, San Francisco newspapers rushed to blame the incident on a poorly equipped
lighthouse. The San Francisco Daily Alta California charged:

The machinery in Point Reyes lighthouse is old and useless; a worn-
out iron pulley had been replaced by a wooden one, the siren does
not keep its time and frequently fails to blow at all during foggy
weather, and the lighthouse employees put in much of their time as
farm laborers. '

In the article, Lighthouse Inspector Commander J.W. Philip replied:

The machinery in the lighthouse is in good order; the engine is
nearly new; the "pulley" complained of is an iron drum, which he
directed the keeper at the last inspection to cover with a layer of
wood to make its circumference larger and give it additional power;
the siren when running, being automatic, must go asregularly as a
clock, and the land about the station is not suited to agriculture.?

The inspector’s comment about agriculture was ill informed, as the lighthouse was
located in the heart of California’s best and largest dairy industry. Charles Webb
Howard’s "A Ranch," less than two miles from the lighthouse on the road to the land-
ing at Drakes Bay, traditionally provided contract labor to the Lighthouse Service.
The report of keepers earning extra cash as farm laborers (or, more likely, milkers)
could have been fact. Incidentally, four years after the article appeared George
Hussey, one of the tenant dairymen at "A Ranch,” became principal keeper at the
lighthouse after many years of contract hauling and as an assistant keeper at the
station.®

The poor conditions at Point Reyes, mainly the isolation and extreme weather,

-‘----.---"-
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caused continued problems in personnel and, subsequently, maintenance. A new
Principal Keeper, John C. Ryan, arrived and soon wrote in the keeper’s journal: "In
taking charge of this station I must say that it is broken, filthy and almost a total
wreck from end to end of it, in the worst condition in every particular of any station I
ever saw, in fact, it is more like an old Saw Mill than a Light Station." Ryan’s Third
Assistant corroborated the statement underneath, but the entire entry was scrawled
over with the word, "Rats." Ryan set to work improving the station, keeping all the
crew busy cleaning, repairing and painting. The assistants even whitewashed the
stairs and coal chute, a somewhat out-of-the-ordinary sprucing up. Nonetheless,
Ryan’s attempts to get the station into shape proved to be a failure, as he received
dismissal orders within a year.®

The Presidential Reorganization Act of July 7, 1939 placed the Lighthouse
Service in the U.S. Coast Guard under the Treasury Department. After 1951, when
the last Lighthouse Service-era keeper Gustav Zetterquist retired, Coast Guardsmen
manned the light with various terms of duty; historian Shanks considered that, un-
like some others on the coast, Point Reyes was operated in a "vigilant, high quality,
very traditional manner right to the end."™? '

H. MODERNIZING THE FOG SIGNAL

By the turn of the century the fog signal worked with reasonable reliability,
but needed constant improvements nonetheless. Water supply continued to be the
major concern, coupled with frequent complaints of the signal being ineffective.
Crews increased the watersheds in size a number of times and installed larger water
storage tanks, including a 35,000-gallon concrete tank built in 1896 perched precari-
ously on the rocks overlooking the lighthouse stairs. The boilers were altered to
burn fuel oil as well as coal for a savings in cost. In 1910 a gasoline-powered compres-
sor and a more efficient six-inch siren replaced one of the steam plants and the
twelve-inch siren, a move that necessitated rebuilding the fog signal building. The
siren, in turn, was replaced with a Canadian-built Type G Air Diaphone in 1915,
which was run by 30-horsepower Doak gasoline engines. Mariners agreed that this
improvement brought the light station up to date in effectiveness and safety.

The only problem remaining was the distance between the light and the fog
signal, some 100 feet of steep and dangerous old trail and stairway. Engineers par-
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tially solved this problem in 1929 when the equipment that powered the diaphones
was moved up to the lighthouse. A wood frame power house, the equipment building
of this study, had been constructed in late 1928 on the site of the large storage house.
The new 875-square-foot equipment building, usually called the “power house” by
those stationed there, measured 20’ x 46’ and was set on a concrete slab that sup-
ported the heavy engines. A watch room, used as an office and weather station, and
a tool/storage room, in addition to a much-needed lavatory (there had been a patent
flush toilet in the lower fog signal building) and work bench were contained in the
building, which featured large rolling doors on the east side at the bottom of the
stairs. According to historian Shanks, this new equipment building, with its wood
paneling, appeared to be fancier than many others on the coast. A circulating water
tank outside the building cooled the engines. Moving the equipment to this site per-
mitted lighthouse personnel to control the fog signal from the lighthouse area; the
diaphones, still on the cliff 100 feet below, only had to be attended to occasionally.®

While this change improved operations a great deal, more could be done. In
1934, engineers moved the diaphones up to a newly built fog signal building directly
below the lighthouse to the west. The two horns, mounted in what looked a little
like a bell tower on the roof of the structure, could be aimed and adjusted for opti-
mum performance. At about this time the south door to the equipment building was
moved to the west side, presumably for more convenient access to the diaphones.
Five years later, in 1939, commercial electric power reached the light station and one
of the Doak engines was replaced with an electric motor and compressor; the other
changed over to electrical operation in about 1948. A backup generator was installed
about a year after electrification.

In about 1947 the Type G Diaphones were replaced with F2T typhon air
horns; these were replaced with "super typhon" dual emitter compressed air horns in
about 1962. Two new electric motors and compressors replaced older ones in the
power plant and an International Harvester/GE diesel generator plant supplanted a
smaller one, for use in the event of power failures. The fog signal operated with this
equipment until 1975, when the station was automated and the old equipment sub-
sequently turned over to the National Park Service.

I. MODERNIZING THE LIGHTHOUSE, 1910-1975

While the fog signal operated with many problems over the years from relying
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on rainfall to run it, the lighthouse operated smoothly, with few obstacles. Safety
was always a concern at any lighthouse, as flammable materials were used for many
purposes at a reservation and fires could start easily, as they had at Point Reyes. At
the turn of the century Point Reyes still lacked a safe storage building for kerosene.
The Secretary of Commerce and Labor wrote to the Secretary of the Treasury on De-
cember 10, 1904:

It is necessary for the safety of the light-station at Point Reyes,
California, and especially to the safety of the large quantity of
mineral oil which it is necessary to keep at that important and
isolated high-class light-station, that more secure and less danger-
ous storage facilities for it be provided. This mineral oil is now
stored in an oil room, attached to the light-tower, which was
originally designed to store lard oil. This is dangerous not only to
the mineral oil but to the light-tower, Therefore it isrecommended
that an isolated brick oilhouse be built in which this inflammable
illuminant can be stored. A building of the size in which to keep
safely the large quantity of oil needed for this first-order light can
not be built for $550, the sum named as the maximum for building
oilhouses in the general appropriation for oilhouses.

Itis estimated that an oilhouse suitable for this station can be built
for $1,500, and the Light-House Board recommends, and in that
recommendation this department concurs, that an appropriation of

this amount be made therefor.3

After much pleading from the district, a small concrete oil house measuring 10’ x 11’
was built in 1910 near the old frame storage house for safely storing the fuel for the
light.

The light source went through its second upgrading in 1911, when an incan-
descent oil vapor light replaced the old oil wick light. Some years later the light
power was increased from 80,000 candles in 1924 to 160,000 candles in 1926, A
Lighthouse Service publication noted that the Point Reyes light was seen from a ship
thirty-nine and a half miles out to sea in 1925. Electrical power was brought to the
station via lines and poles across Point Reyes in 1939 at a cost to Pacific Gas & Elec-
tric Company of $30,000; that year a 1/18 horsepower electric motor was fitted to the
mechanism pedestal and the old weight system was put aside for emergency use. A
1500-watt bulb (later reduced to 1000 watts) replaced the incandescent oil vapor
light, but during power outages when the auxiliary power also failed, a Coleman

23



Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station

lantern was hung in its stead; this practice continued until the light was automated
in 1975. The light power was increased to 170,000 candles in 1954 and to 1,350,000
candles in 1966. To update services to mariners the Coast Guard installed a Class D
radiobeacon with a range of seven to ten miles in 1949,%

At some time between 1905 and 1915 an eight-gided concrete sidewalk was
laid around the lighthouse, Also, the doors were replaced at an unknown date, the
lower gallery door having been replaced with wood some time after 1951. A wind
vane appears on the lighthouse roof in historic photos from around 1915, but had
been removed some time after 1941. At an unknown date, considered by some histo-
rians and lighthouse men to be near the beginning of World War II, the roof and
lantern were painted red. Historian Shanks speculates that the color change could
have been and attempt to alleviate any confusion by mariners with the Point Bonita
light to the south, which had and still has a painted black lantern.

In 1959 the Coast Guard undertook a major project at the light station: re-
placement of the old wooden stairway with 304 concrete steps and a cart track. The
stairs were built in the same location but with ramps at two portions. An electric
winch at the top of the stairway controlled a cart capable of hauling equipment and,
if necessary, personnel.

In 1960 a modern apartment complex and garage replaced the old dwellings
after almost a century of use and adverse weather. Ten years later an earthquake
slightly damaged the light’s clockwork mechanisms, resulting in uneven wear on the
carriage wheels that contines today. In 1975 the Coast Guard poured a concrete side-
walk from the equipment building deck down to the lighthouse deck, as access to the
automated light building gate.’’

Point Reyes Light Station has traditionally been open to visitors during speci-
fied hours. A visitor register dating to 1892 has been preserved. During the 1960s
visitors could see the station with a Coast Guard guide on weekends. Because of
staffing problems, however, the Division Chief ordered the station closed to visitors
effective May 15, 1967. Although the public protested, the Coast Guard never re-
lented as long as it controlled the station and only by special permission could a non-
service visitor see the lighthouse.

The light station was automated in 1975 as part of a servicewide moderniza-
tion program. The Coast Guard erected a concrete building on the site of the fog
signal building directly west of the lighthouse on which it put a revolving reflector
light, a new radiobeacon and electronic tone fog signal, all controlled by timers and
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computers. The last keeper, Thomas Smith, turned off the venerable old light on
June 12, 1975, after 105 years of faithful service. By this time most of the historic
buildings and structures on the reservation had been replaced with modern ones;
only the lighthouse, equipment building, oil house, cisterns, watersheds and various
sheds and outbuildings remained. Two years later the lighthouse and its 83 acres of
land were transferred to the National Park Service for inclusion in Point Reyes Na-
tional Seashore. The Coast Guard retained fee title to two tiny parcels in the reser-
vation and the concrete transformer house. After construction of safety barriers,
restrooms and a visitor center, the historic light station was reopened to the public in
197738

J. OTHER GOVERNMENT AGENCIES AT POINT REYES

The United States Weather Bureau, founded in 1872, tracked weather pat-
terns with a number of formal and informal manned posts along the California coast
and provided this important information to the government and mariners. An offi-
cial weather station was established at Point Reyes in the 1890s under the supervi-
sion of Julius C. Hayden, a former Signal Corpsman who had built similar stations on
Mt. Tamalpais and the Farallon Islands. Hayden apparently operated the station out
of existing buildings at the light station until permission was granted by the Light-
house Board in 1901 to build a Weather Bureau station and dwelling. During the
winter of 1901-1902 Hayden supervised construction of a two-story frame dwelling,
with a weather observatory in the upper floor, perched at the edge of the cliff over- ‘
looking the top of the lighthouse stairs. Hayden experimented in wireless telegraphy
using flagstaffs erected on the rocky hilltop adjacent to the station. Historian Jack
Mason described the operation:

A flag told the direction of the wind, anemometers how fast it was
going. Fog and rain forecasting was pretty much "by the seat of the
pants™
Red sky in the morning,
Is a sailor’s sure warning.
Red sky at night,
Sailor’s delight.
After recording his morning observations on the Point, the station
chieftelegraphed (later telephoned) them to San Francisco, whence
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they were disseminated by mail, telegraph, telephone and (around
1920) radio.*®

The last meteorologist stationed at the site was Julius Smith, who raised two
children in the little house on the cliff and kept chickens in the small yard, where a
swing had been set up. Two albums of the Smiths’ family life at the site now in the
Jack Mason Museum in Inverness provide a detailed look at life on the point early in
the century. Smith and his family left the station on April 15, 1927. The Weather
Bureau transferred the building to the Coast Guard later that year; it was used to
house the principal keeper until its destruction in about 1960. The National Park
Service rebuilt the foundation into an observation deck at the top of the lighthouse
stairs, providing a favorite site for whalewatchers.®

The United States Navy took charge of the Coast Guard facilities during
World War II, including the Point Reyes Light Station. The Navy granted a permit
to the Department of War, United States Army on May 7, 1943, to establish a harbor
defense radar installation near the eastern end of the lighthouse reservation. The
army built a combination barracks, mess hall and latrine with a PX store, a prefabri-
cated day room, an underground lookout station, a radar transmitter house and a
power house, as well as water, electric and sewer systems. Of the approximately 15
enlistees at the installation Point Reyes historian Jack Mason wrote:

Rapport with the lighthouse personnel was excellent. When the
boys wore out the felt on their pool table, keeper Gustav Zetterquist
replaced it. For Christmas, the GIs chipped in and bouﬁxt ?Vlrs
Zetterquist a chenille bedspread. The boys had a mascot, urphg,
alittle dog of jumbled ancestry. When naughty, Murphy was ma

to stand on his hind legs in a corner until he promised to do better.*

According to Mrs. Zetterquist’s daughter, the army men regularly visited the
family home for dinner, bringing hard-to-get rationed items like sugar and candy for
the kids and receiving in return the results of Mrs. Zetterquist’s fine baking.*?

Per an agreement dated March 10, 1944, the lighthouse obtained limited
water supplies from the army installation’s well, replacing the old rainshed collection
system in use at the light station for 75 years. The army abandoned the installation
after the war and declared the installation buildings surplus on February 3, 1950; in
1952 the buildings were transferred to the Coast Guard and demolished.®®
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K. THE KEEPERS OF THE LIGHT

The Point Reyes Light Station held a reputation for many years as one of the
less desirable assignments on the west coast. A combination of wind, fog and dark-
ness, the unrelenting fog signal, the immense set of stairs, not to mention isolation
and poor wages, took a severe toll on the keepers and their assistants. Incidents of
insanity, alcoholism, violence and insubordination plagued the station during its first
half-century of operation. Not until modern conveniences arrived, such as better
roads, transportation and electrical power, did the working conditions improve to any
extent.

The station’s staff included the principal keeper, usually a Lighthouse Service
veteran, and three assistants, ranked as first, second and third assistant keepers. All
were provided quarters, and many had families; until the Coast Guard took over the
lighthouses, keepers were reportedly encouraged to come with families as a way to
keep the men from boredom and isolation. Pay scales in 1887 ranged from $800 per
year for the principal keeper to $600 for the first assistant and $500 for the second
and third assistants. Depending on the particular year, the service provided rations,
although some reports complain of lack of government-provided rations. Marin
County’s historian pleaded for the keepers’ well being in 1880;

When it is considered how these men have tolive, far removed from
society and neighbors, on a barren rock, subjected to the dangers
and fatigues incident to their vocation, and the great responsibility
which rests upon their shoulders, it would seem that the Govern-
ment could well afford to be far more liberal in remunerating their
services. The fate and destiny of valuable property and precious
lives are in their hands. ...4

Seven years later the San Francisco Chronicle commented on a somewhat different
situation:

This [wage] seems a mere pittance (in fact it is not lavish), but, con-
sidering all that the word "rations" includes, it might be worse.
House rent and repairing, stove fixtures, fuel, coal-oil, beef, pork,
flour, rice, beans, potatoes, onions, sugar, coffee and vinegar are
among the articles furnished by Government, with a privilege of ex-
changing any of them in something else.*
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Until 1929 the keepers worked double watches during the frequently foggy
nights. With one man stationed at the light tower and the other manning the fog
signal 100 feet below, both withstood battering winds and an unimaginable racket
from the fog signal’s constant blasts. A sleeping room provided a safe place to rest
between watches or when the wind prevented passage up the stairs, an apparently
common event, as mentioned in the Chronicle: "On the left [of the stairway] a guard
rail insures comparative safety to the keepers, who, as it is in heavy gales, have occa-
sionally to prostrate themselves during the passage, making the best of their way be-
tween gusts, so furious is the sweep of the wind." -

Day-to-day life at the station consisted of tedious tasks such as polishing the
lens, cleaning and painting, repair of facilities and instruments, or making trips to
the landing, post office or local ranch for supplies. Depending on the disciplinary
character of the principal keeper, the work could be performed under pressure or
barely at all. As evidenced in the keepers log of 1872-1896, some keepers let the sta-
tion fall into disrepair while others enforced a stricter work ethic and pushed their
crews to make the place shine. For instance, when John C. Ryan took over the
station in January 1888, he found it to be in extremely poor condition and put his
assistants to work cleaning it up. Ryan crowded the keepers log with lists of tasks
performed, many of which were cosmetic; the crew appeared to have worked harder
than any other time in the light station’s history. Apparently he pushed a bit too
hard, as in 1889 one assistant went "crazy" and was taken to the authorities at
Olema; this incident was followed by Ryan’s dismissal from the service.

The life of a keeper figured in romantic interpretations worldwide during the
pioneer era of the job. Point Reyes received fame as one of the remote outposts on
the California coast, and although isolated, close enough to a big city to be visited and
reported on. The Chronicle’s writer in 1887 found himself fascinated with the per-
sonal aspects at Point Reyes:

It is a lonely vigil, disposing one to serious meditation. The various
ways in which the different watchers beguile their time, the books
they read, the impressions made upon them by the weird and awful
nature of their surroundings, are matters of interest to the philoso-
pher. The first assistant has embodied his emotions in verse. It was
the writer’s good fortune to hear these poems read by their author
under peculiarly favorable circumstances, and to the little group of
listeners their quaint charm will long remain an impressive mem-
ory inseparable from the scene.*
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Principal keeper E.G. Chamberlain, obviously depressed but in a poetic mood, wrote
in the keepers log in September of 1885, "Fog fog and nothing but fog / had no mail
since Sth instant / getting short of provisions," and then guoted English poet William
Cowper:

O solitude where are the charms
That sages have seen in thy face,
Better dwell in the midst of alarms
Than reign in this horrible place.
Society friendship to love
Divinely bestowed upon man,
O had I the wings of a dove,
How soon would I taste you again.?’

While some keepers found poetic inspiration at the light station, others found loneli-
ness, boredom and claustrophobia. Problems with alcoholism plagued the station, as
described by the Chronicle writer:

Another local celebrity, in his way, was a late (and now happily
deposed) keeper, notorious for his love of the flowing bowl. It is said
that he even regaled himself, when out of whisky, with the alcohol
furnished for cleaning lamps, and a familiar sight to the ranchman
was this genial gentleman lying dead drunk by the roadside, while
his horse, attached to the lighthouse wagon, grazed at will over the
country. It wasno unusual thing for him to be drunk for days at his
station.

Apparently the fog signal caused most of the problems to keepers at the sta-
tion. The signal building lay some 100 feet in elevation below the light, or another
several hundred steps down the cliff. The steam apparatus was quirky and danger-
ous, requiring a great deal of maintenance and worry. The signal itself, whether
siren or steam whistle, brought on numerous staff problems. The 1887 Chronicle
article considered that the incessant sirens made "night and day alike hideous. . . the
blast alone, which lasts five seconds and recurs every seventy seconds, is enough to
drive any ordinary man mad, and must, it seems, exert a wearing effect upon even
the hardened nerves of a keeper." The writer noted that after 176 hours of continu-
ous operation, "the jaded attendants looked as if they had been on a protracted
spree."
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These difficulties wore on all the keepers, but no doubt brought the most
problems to the principal keeper. Toogood wrote:

Keepers came and went frequently at Point Reyes light station
during the nineteenth century, reflecting the nearly constant per-
sonnel problems plaguing that lonely spot. In March 1876 tensions
flared between the principal keeper, William Wadsworth, and his
second and third assistant keepers, who threatened him with
violent language when he tried to put them on road repair. In 1875,
however, Wadsworth had experienced his greatest trials with third
assistant J. D. Parker, who threatened the safety of many naviga-
tors with hisinsubordination and neglectful duty. Accordingtothe
keeper, Parker once shut down the fog signal, reporting clear
weather when the Point was socked in with fog. Several times
Parker failed to start the fog signal for hours after the fogrolled in,
or didn’t show up for his watch, or was late in reporting to duty. On
one occasion Parker blew the fog whistle with little steam, only
sounding it on five to fifteen minute intervals, so that when a
steamboat signaled, he was unable to respond, although the station
had plenty of water to operate the whistles at full pressure. On
another occasion, he tampered with the fog signals’ adjustments
without authority, and on a consistent basis he refused to start his
duty at the lighthouse one-half hour before sundown, although
instructed several times to do so by keeper Wadsworth. Some days
Parker would disappear from the station without explanation, and
then return drunk, unable to go on watch. On Christmaseve, 1875,
Parker attended a ball at a neighboring ranch, where he apparently
burst into drunken song to entertain the guests, and to Keeper
Wadsworth’s disgust, vomited in front of the company.*

Lighthouse personnel did have various diversions, although most required a
ride of more than an hour distant. The towns of Olema and Nicasio held regular
balls, which were sometimes attended by keepers. One assistant, John McFarland,
attended many balls and visited the local towns and ranches frequently during the
mid-1870s, according to the keepers log; he often stayed away for days, apparently
with the blessing of his superior. Eventually the keeper noted in the log: "Grave
charges were preferred against John A.F. McFarland by Misses Vienna Jewell and
Fannie Perham." McFarland was suspended but reinstated after the charges were
tabled. The nature of Mr. McFarland's transgressions will perhaps never be known;
he soon left to take charge of the Point Montara lighthouse.*

To many the lighthouse keepers stood as heroes, and one Point Reyes keeper,
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Fred Kreth, became known as a real hero. In about 1927 the three-man crew of a
fishing vessel found themselves stranded for twenty-four hours at an inaccessible
area below the lighthouse. After the Coast Guardsmen from the lifeboat station at
Drakes Bay failed to reach the wet and frightened men, Kreth climbed down the
rocky cliffs to the fishermen and guided them to the safety of the keeper’s quarters.*®

Keepers found friendships and family-style companionship at local ranches.
Until after the turn of the century one ranch, the F Ranch near the head of Drakes
Estero, acted as a kind of community center, with post office, store and schooner
landing. The log often mentions visits, meat purchases, or trips to the post office
there. Mail service did not reach the lighthouse itself until well into the 20th cen-
tury; a fourth-class post office established at the lighthouse in about 1925 survived
until the 1940s. The mail drivers commonly would also deliver groceries from the
store at Inverness to the keepers’ families. The local school was originally located in
a gulch beyond G Ranch until it was moved to A Ranch adjacent to the lighthouse in
1923. The old schoolhouse hosted community meetings and parties in addition to
performing its educational responsibilities. Also, trustees of a Portuguese social hall
on the Inverness road held regular dances and social gatherings, to which all were
invited.5!

The poor condition of the road to the lighthouse from Olema contributed to
the isolation and hardships faced by the residents of the light station. The twenty-
mile stretch of dirt and sand, planked in some places, was the responsibility of vari-
ous local roadmasters until the turn of the century. Conditions varied along the
road, as some dairymen kept the stretch through their ranch in excellent shape
while others ignored their road sections. Sandy portions closer to the lighthouse res-
ervation caused the greatest problems, as maintenance of the corduroy, or planked,
sections taxed the keepers and roadmasters. A reporter from the Marin Journal
remarked after an 1889 visit that "the wheels of the carriage utter sounds that grate
upon the nerves, and the horses soon indicate the labor necessary to cross these
sandy spaces by slowing down to a hum-drum walk, and a spiritless movement."*

By 1927 the road as far as J. V. Mendoza’s B Ranch had been widened and
resurfaced, but the remaining 3.3 miles to the lighthouse continued to be poor. Con- -
gressman Clarence F. Lea wrote to the Lighthouse Service Commissioner after a
visit to the lighthouse:

At present the Lighthouse Service is under a heavy expense for
hauling supplies between the landing at Drakes Bay and the sta-
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tion, the road being impassable during wet weather, and the west-
erly half of it being very difficult to negociate at any time due to
heavy drifting sand. The Service keeps the western portion of this
road corduroyed at considerable expense in order that supplies may
be hauled to the station.®

Congressman Lea introduced a bill for funding road improvements but no money
came of it; the county funded a general improvement in 1929 consisting of widening
the road to sixteen feet, laying down a rock surface, and constructing culverts and
ditches. Finally, in 1931, the Lighthouse Service funded improvement of the road to
eighteen feet wide with a decomposed granite surface. Keepers and their families
could now travel to the nearby towns without the rigors of the previous decades.™

L. SIGNIFICANCE

The Point Reyes Lighthouse is one of the last remaining operable 19th-cen-
tury lighthouses on the West Coast. According to historian Shanks, it is an unsur-
passed example of a classic West Coast lighthouse and one of the finest examples of
iron plate lighthouses in the country. While it has been replaced by an automated
system, the 1870 lighthouse with original fresnel lens and counterweight operation is
still used by National Park Service staff for interpretive purposes, a rare situation for
a closed lighthouse. The architectural integrity of the original tower is complete,
with the exception of window replacement (the original glass has been replaced with
plexiglass), light source (electric for the last 51 years), and a replacement door on the
lower floor. The original lens and clockwork mechanism, built in Parisin 1867, are
intact.

The equipment building is also intact with minor architectural changes. Its
machinery is intact and could be made operable. Its design is highly unusual, in that
all of the other fog signals on the West Coast were contained in one building, operat-
ing as a unit; as an independent powerhouse structure supplementary to a fog signal,
it is unique.

These elements of the Point Reyes Light Station possess significance as inte-
gral units of the West Coast lighthouse and fog signal system. Point Reyes, consid-
ered to be the foggiest and windiest point on the West Coast, has historically been
one of the more important landmarks for mariners, beginning with the earliest
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explorers of the region. The light station is significant in the history of maritime
commerce and as an aid to navigation under the U.S. Lighthouse Service and U.S.
Coast Guard in California. In addition, it is architecturally significant as the only
remaining operable lighthouse of its type on the West Coast (Cape Mendocino Light-
house in Humboldt County is practically identical, but has been stripped of its lens
and mechanism and is in poor condition after years of abandonment).

The complex at the foot of 304 stairs on the western headland of Point Reyes
provides the visitor with a rare example of an intact light station of the era 1870-
1930. Only the Coast Guard automated light intrudes on the historic scene, although
it is of interest in itself as a vivid representation of the changes in the aids to naviga-
tion on the California coast.

K. END NOTES

This historical report is based largely on an existing National Park Service history of the lighthouse, with
additions and corrections provided: Toogood, Anna Coxe, Historic Resource Study: A Civil History of
Golden Gate National Recreation Area and Point Reyes National Seashore, California, pp. 206-207, 238-
275. Toogood’s numerous references are not cited individually in this report.

'San Francisco Chronicle, September 25, 1887.

*Shanks and Shanks, 1978, p.19; Shanks calls Point Reyes “the foggiest point on the Pacific Coast . . . and
the nation’s windiest headland as well”; Mason, in Point Reyes, The Solemn Land, page 117, refers to Dr.
Horace Byers’ Synoptic and Aeronautic Meteorological Book about Point Reyes fog; Holland, p. 202,
quotes 2,139 hours of fog in 1918; according to the United States Lighthouse Service Bulletin, Vol. IV
#37, January 3, 1933, pp. 141-142, Point Reyes had the highest number of fog hours in the service
during fiscal year 1932: 1,774 hours, and 2,129 in FY 1930; highest number of fog hours was 2,662 in
1953, recorded in Gibbs, p. 71; average wind velocity at Point Reyes was found to be 23.5 miles per hour
year round, with winds of 100 mph recorded in 1916 (National Register of Historic Places Nomination
Form, 1973, and Gibbs, p. 71). '

*Holland, p. 202.

‘Map, Copy “A”, Executive Office, September 11, 1854, in Real Property records, U.S. Coast Guard,
Alameda, California; Lt. T.A. Jenkins to Major Hartman Bache, Corps of Engineers, May 2, 1855,
National Archives, Record Group 26. A lighthouse at Point Lobos was never built; in its stead a third
order light was built at Mile Rock outside San Francisco Bay.

®Mason, Point Reyes, pp. 25-29,
5Deed recorded on March 18, 1856, Book C, page 52. Toogood, p. 241. The deed states a price of $1,000.
"Toogood, p. 241; there is little doubt that the Civil War interfered with negotiations during this time.

¢Ellison, p. 859. Lighthouse Board Arnual Reports, 1867-68.

9T'oogood, p. 243.
1"Deeds book G page 518, Marin County Recorders Office. The figure for acreage is almost universally
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stated in historical reports and books as 120 acres, but has never been substantiated; no evidence of a
change in boundaries has been found during the current research, while the official acreage has been
noted as 83 acres for all documents of this century.

lighanks, 1978, p. 21.

17] otters and diaries of George Davidson (1825-1911), Bancroft Library, University of California,
Berkeley.

*-

133chmeider, in Point Reyes Historian, pp. 508-509.
14San Francisco Chronicle, September 25, 1887, p. 8.

5nidentified letter, 1870, probably from Twelfth District engineer Col. R.S. Williamson (letter refers to
“my last annual report”), NA. RG 26, LHB Vol. 285,

15At some point between 1856 and 1870 the specifications were changed to provide for a first order re-
volving lens, replacing a second order light planned during the 1850s.

1"Lighthouse Board Annual Reports, 1871.

18Light lists from later years noted the characteristic as a 1.5 second flash and 3.5 second eclipse; this
was amended by 1950 to a 1.7 second flash and 3.3 second eclipse. The light tower is documented to have
been painted white with a black lantern (roof, window frames and balcony) at least to 1924; oral histories
indicate the the lantern was black until World War II; early photos tend to corroborate this, although no
early color photos of the light have been found; also see Shanks, p.22. The first photographs of the light
tower, taken by Eadweard Muybridge in 1870, show what appears to be either no paint or a light-color
primer coat on the lantern. It appears that the tower was painted similar to today’s paint scheme (red
roof, white lantern and tower, black and green balconies) during the 1870s and 1880s, evidenced by
orders for paint for the tower dated 1875 which involved 100 pounds of white lead, 25 pounds of red lead
and 10 pounds of green, and by a description in the 1889 Coast Pilot, which described the lighthouse as a
white tower with the top of the lantern painted red and two open balustrades painted black. In 1888 it
took the crew ten days to paint the tower; they used red primer during that job. From the Lighthouse
Keepers Journal, 1875, 1876, 1888,

“Munro-Fraser, pp. 304-305.
Lighthouse Board Annual Reports, 1871.

'Munro-Fraser, p. 305.

ZLighthouse Keepers Journal, 1872-1877, NPS Collection: entries of July 22, August 16-23 and Septem-
ber 8, 1872; Marin Journal, September 21, 1872.

#Lighthouse Keepers Journal, October 1875. Toogood, p. 256.
#Lighthouse Board Annual Reports, 1880, quoting a report submitted by the Twelfth District Inspector.

#Lighthouse Keepers Journal, March 11, September 6 and 9, 1890. Lighthouse Board Annual Reports,
1896, 1900, 1907.

%8an Francisco Chronicle, September 25, 1887, p. 8.
#'The Lighthouse Keepers Journal provides the correct date for conversion to mineral oil, September 1,

1887; entries of September 1-13, 1887. Entries of April and December, 1889. Letter from Frank A. Burt
to Engineer, 12th District, April 30, 1906.
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#Quote from Lighthouse Keepers Journal, Feb. 12, 1877.
#8an Francisco Daily Alta California, August 25, 1885,
®Marin County Journal, February 21, 1889. Lighthouse Keepers Journal, 1880-1890.

31Lighthouse Keepers Journal, January 21, month of February, April 16, May 20, June 17, October 10,
1888, February 7 and 10, 1888.

2Toogood, pp. 271-272. Interview with Ralph Shanks,

¥Toogood, pp. 262-266. Coast Guard Property Data Inventory, March 5, 1946,
#Interview with Charles Zetterquist.

%Lighthouse Board Annual Reports, 1905.

%®Toogood, pp. 266-267. Marin Journal, July 20, 1939; Lighthouse Service Bulletin, Vol. Ill, Number 18,
June 1, 1925.

¥"Baywood Press, July 2 and October 29, 1959.

¥Data in Coast Guard and Point Reyes National Seashore files.

¥%Mason, Point Reyes Historian, p. 293.

“Letters of Lighthouse éervice, December 4, 1926 and January 12, 1927, Coast Guard files, Alameda.

“"Mason, Point Reyes Historian, p. 625; Mason cites the Point Reyes Light, January 4, 1968 and memo-
ries of Mrs. Zetterquist..

“]nterview with Mary Giddings by Suzanne Baty, 1990, Jack Mason Museum,

“Letters, February 16 and 26, 1944, October 8, 1945, May 12, 1949, May 6 and June 19, 1952, and permit
dated March 10, 1944, Coast Guard files, Alameda.

“Munro-Fraser, p. 306.
“San Francisco Chronicle, September 25, 1887, p. 8.
“Ibid,

41Gunn, p. 25, attributes the poem to Cowper (1731-1800) in his Verses Supposed to be Written by Alexan-
der Selkirk; Selkirk was supposedly the model for Defoe’s Robinson Crusoe.

“Toogood, pp. 268-269.
“Lighthouse Keepers Journal, July 24, 1873, March 17 and September 6, 1874 and February 7, 1875,

%8an Francisco Examiner, undated article; letter from Mrs. Ruth Kreth to U.S. Coast Guard dated May
28, 1971.

$1Mason, Point Reyes, pp. 149, 151. Interview with Mary Giddings.
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%2Marin County Journal, September 12, 1889.

33H.W. Rhodes to Lighthouse Commissioner, November 29, 1927, National Archives, RG 26,

% Toogood, p. 274.
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ITI. CONSTRUCTION HISTORY

A. DESCRIPTION OF CONTRIBUTING BUILDINGS

1. LIGHTHOUSE (PR-025)

The Point Reyes Lighthouse, built in 1870, is a sixteen-sided pyramidal
tower with three levels, a watch room, first gallery (mechanisms) and second gallery
(lantern). It is constructed of iron plate, bolted together and to a concrete base. The
second gallery is largely a glass (plexiglass) lantern with metal astragals and an iron
and copper roof. Narrow balconies surround the first and second galleries on the
outside. There are two interior spiral staircases. The pedestal holding the clock-
work mechanisms stands in the first gallery, supported by a pole-like base which
extends to the ground floor. The lens, measuring 8’ 6" high, is mounted on the ped-
estal and fills the lantern level (second gallery). The lighthouse is 20’ in diameter at
the base and 35’ high. The tower has been painted white, with a red roof, black
decks and green trim.

Only minor structural changes have occurred at the lighthouse. What was
apparently a riveted iron door on the first gallery was replaced in 1934 with a welded
steel plate door which remains. The lower level door was replaced at an unknown
date with a four-panel wood door. The light was electrified in 1939, necessitating
holes being machined into the lens pedestal to accommodate an electric motor. At an
unknown date linoleum was installed on the first gallery floor.

Paint scemes on the lighthouse have changed through the years. The lantern
exterior (top level) was painted black or red until at least 1889, with a red roof and
and black baustrades on a white tower. The lantern was then painted black, includ-
ing the roof, from about 1892 to about 1941, when the roof and lantern were re-
painted red. More recently, about 1965, the astragals were painted white and the
balconies green, leaving the roof red.

The lighthouse complex was abandoned in 1975 when an automated light was
placed below the light tower. Now under National Park Service management, the
lighthouse has undergone restoration and is in good condition. The lighthouse is
fully operable and used for park interpretation programs.
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2. EQUIPMENT BUILDING (PR-016)

The fog signal equipment building, built in 1928 and put into operation
in February 1929, is a 20’ x 46’ wood frame one-story building on a concrete slab
foundation. Its purpose was to house the machinery necessary to power the fog
signal, first located about 100’ feet below on the cliff and after 1934 in a building
adjacent to the lighthouse tower., It has also been called the power house, or the
machinery building. It is composed of four rooms: a large machinery room with
natural wood paneling, which contains a generator, two electric motors and compres-
sors, a compressed air storage tank, work bench, sink, and related hardware, gauges
and electrical utility boxes; a watch room with desk; a storage room, more recently
called the TV room, with cabinets; and a lavatory, now used for storage. The build-
ing has a door on the west side and a set of rolling doors on the east side at the foot of
the stairway which leads up to the visitor center and dwellings. The building is
painted white with green trim and has a red composition tile roof.

The equipment building has been slightly altered: the smaller door was
moved from the south side to the west some time between 1935 and 1945; a door was
added between the watch room and the storage room after 1951; a single swinging
door was added into one of the sliding doors on the east side after 1951; the ventila-
tors on the roof were altered over the years and have since been removed; and the
machinery has been changed and updated over the years (the current equipment
dates from 1962 and is no longer operable). The building is in good condition.

3. TRANSFORMER BUILDING

The transformer building, built in 1910, is a 10’ x 11’ concrete box with
a metal door on the west side. It has an almost flat hipped roof and panels formed in
the walls. The building was originally used as an oil storage house until the light
station was electrified in 1939; it has since housed the electrical transformer and is
still owned and used by the Coast Guard. It has had few structural alterations since
construction except for a replaced door.
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4. CISTERN AND WATERSHEDS (PR-014 & 019)

The first 100,000-gallon brick-and-concrete cistern and 10,000-square-
foot concrete watershed (PR-019) were built in 1871 to collect and store water for the
steam-powered fog signal and for general use. The collection system was supple-
mented with other watersheds in 1875 and 1881. One smaller cistern and watershed
was built on the rocks overlooking the lighthouse stairs (PR-014) in 1896. A new wa-
tershed of 6,000 square feet was built to the east of the keepers cottages (garage
today) in 1900. The cisterns were not used for fog signal operation after 1915, when
the signal was switched to engine power. The original cistern appears as a dome at
the lower elevations of the large watershed; the actual water storage is under the
dome. The watersheds are cracked, with plants invading the openings.

5. OLD GARAGE (VISITOR CENTER) (PR-017)

The current visitor center, sometimes called the multi-purpose build-
ing, was constructed as a one-car garage in 1924. It is a wood frame building with
four windows and a gable roof, 14’ x 20°. The original garage door opening was re-
placed before 1975 with a wall and standard door. In 1976 the building was outfitted
a8 a visitor center, and the interior was renovated in 1990.

6. FUEL AND PAINT STORAGE BUILDING (PR-021)

This small white building was constructed before 1925, possibly as early
as 1900. It is wood frame, with a gable roof, measuring 6’ x 8’. It is still in use and is
in good condition. The structure was repainted in 1990.

7. PUMP HOUSE (PR-022)

This building is reached by a flight of stairs which depart northerly near
the visitor center. It measures 6’ x 8’ and is similar to the fuel and paint shed. It was
constructed in about 1935 and is in good condition.
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8. STAIRWAY (PR-012)

The long flight of stairs to the lighthouse from the dwellings on the
bluff above was originally made of thick planks of wood. It was replaced in 1959 by
this sturdy, reinforced concrete stairway which measures four feet wide by 600’.
There are 304 steps and two ramp sections, the equivalent height of a ten-story
building. The steps are flanked by parallel ramps which accommodate a cart, oper-
ated by an electric winch at the top of the stairs. Aluminum railings with light fix-
tures at intervals were installed on both sides of the stairway. Three small rest
areas were built by the National Park Service about halfway up the stairs in 1977.

9. MISCELLEANEOUS STRUCTURES

Also at the lighthouse complex are miscellaneous remains of structures
and buildings spanning the history of the lighthouse. Among these are the trail to
the original fog signal (1871) which is largely intact but unfit for public use; founda-
tions of various water and fuel storage tanks on many portions of the site; founda-
tions of the weather bureau building (1902-ca. 1960), now used as the main visitor
overlook at the top of the stairs, and brick foundations of the old washhouse below
the upper walkway; various tank, tower and antennae bases; and at least two dump
sites. Of interest is the road to the lighthouse from the landing at Drakes Bay: much
of it is in its original alignment, and portions of abandoned alignment remain. The
section from Nunes (A) Ranch to the landing remains as a one-lane road, similar if
not identical to the original road.

B. NON-CONTRIBUTING STRUCTURES

There are four non-contributing structures in the complex: the automated
light station below the 1870 lighthouse, built in 1975 and owned and operated by the
U.S. Coast Guard; the restroom building next to the visitor center, built in 1977 by
the National Park Service; the apartment quarters, a two-story building constructed
by the Coast Guard in 1960; and the garage/office, also constructed by the Coast
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Guard in 1960. A number of water tanks and a pump shed stand on the east side of
the reservation. There are also a number of small communications facilities located
east of the complex on hilltops along the road to the lighthouse; however, most of
these are not within the historic boundaries of the lighthouse reservation.
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E

. Fog signal (site, 1871-1934) 17.

HISTORIC BASE MAP from Toogood

NO SCALE

CIVIL HISTORY, GOLDEN GATE NATIONAL RECREATION AREA

POINT REYES LIGHTHOUSE STATION
HISTORIC BASE MAP. SHEET 7

(1 " THONOE J mal 113
TR ThE BPARTARNT OF THe 1N i oAl PARE B4IVICT rraragTr

1 Visitor center (ex-garage)

2. Trail/stairs to fog signal 18. Planked terrace (site)

3. Route of coal chute 19. Pump house, 1934

4. Modern light station/site of fog signal 20. Fuel and paint storage building, ¢. 1900
1934-1974 21, Cistern, 1871

5. Lighthouse, 1870 22. Rainshed, 1871-1900

6. Equipment building, 1928 23. Paint shop (site)

7. Transformer building (old oil house), 1910 24. Coal house (site)

8. Fuel tank (site) 25. Double keepers quarters, 1870-1960 (site),

9. Gasoline storage building (site) apartments, 1960

10. Wooden 42,000 gal. water tank (site) 26. Outhouses, sheds, laundry & store buildings

11. Stairway, 1959 (site of original wooden stairs) (sites)

12. Weather Bureau/keepers dwelling, 27. Keepers cottages, 1885-1960 (site)
1902-¢.1960 (site) 28. Fuel and store building (site)

13. Rainshed, site of storm warning pole 29. Barn, 3-car garage (site)
& flag pole 30. Modern pumphouse, site of gas storage building

14, Cistern, 1898 31. Stable, barn (site)

15. Washhouse (site) 32. One-car garage, 1933 (site)

16. Single garage, fuel shed (site) 33. Upper rainshed, 6,000 square feet, 1900 (site)
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Figure 1 - Aerial view of Point Reyes looking east, lighth on polnt in f i, takin ea. 1050,
National Fark Service.

Figure 2 - Aerial view of Poimt Reyes looking southeast, lighthouse at oxdreme nght, taken ca. 1953
Natinnal Park Service,
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Figure 3 . Point Reves lighthoune whin niow, probably taken in late 1870 or early 1571 Note the light
color of lantern. Eadwoard Moybridge photograph, Records of the United States Const Guard,
National Archives
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!‘»gun 1 ‘-e-w\, I-u:it ol ehinte and fog signal, e 1871

ph courtesy of Bancroft Libeary,
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Higtong Sv-mni Ragon, Point Reyes Lignt Station

Figure b - Cow of the lighthouss umdor l.lw mmorshubmk that serviced the Cadifornia coast, et
Point Reyes ca. 1871 Ead 4 Muybridg ! b eurtesy of B ft Lithrsry
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F'xglm @ \‘n-wly mnumwd keepers dwelling, ea. 1870
phatograph, Nationsl Archives

Figure T - View diswn stairs under comstruction, probahly lste 1870. Note that future sito of equipment
bwikling has bowo graded. Esbwéard Muybridge photograph, United States Coast Guard
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Figures & and 9- Two views of the lighthouse and coal shid, before 1856, Natlonal Park Service
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Figure 11 - Fog slgnal bullding, ca. 1900, Jack Meson Maseum
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Figore 12 - Lighthouse ca. 1910 Note enterete sidewalk sround tower, Jack Mason Museum
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Higloric Structures Report: Polnt Reyes Light Station
Figure 15 - Fog Signal building e, 1915 National Patk Service
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Figure 17 - Construction of new water tank near top of siairs, ea. 1916, National Park Service

Figure 18 « Lurge watershed and cistern. en. 1818 Nathmal Park Service.
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Figure 19 - Locking up woodém stalrs, cv. 1915, National Puzk Service,
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Histonc Structures Aoport Point Reyes Light Stasion

Figare 20 - Lighthouse, ofl storage building, coal shod, 1987, Within a year the shed will be replaced by
the equipeent building. Natonal Park Servies, courtesy of Fred V. Kreth
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Figure 21 - Road in eestern part of reservation before repalra, 1021; Tine marks proposed bypmas of
plank road on Jeft. National Park Servies
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Figure 22 - Road after ropairs. 1834 Notloe vegetation plantod to stahllize dune. Natinnal Park Service.
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Figure 23 - Lighthoose landing wt Drakes Bay, co. 1815, San Franciseo Maritime National Historie Park

Figute 24 - “A Ranch,” adjucont 1o the lighthouse reservation, ca. 1006, Teama like this hauled water,
coal snd supplies to the lighthouse on contract.  National Park Service, courtesy of Edward Ramos,
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Figure 25 U. 8 Lifssaving Station on Paint Reyes Beach, ca. 1800. Natlonal Putk Serviee.

Figure 25 - W, H. Hicks, keeper a2 Polut Reyes o 1022 Joek Mesun Mosen,
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Figure 27 - Wife and sen of Jultiss Smith, chief at the Wasther Bureau Siatien, an the bench by the
wtation al the top of the sairs. Note the sign on the bullding. Smith family album, Jeck Mason Museum

Figure 28 - The Smiths kept chickons a1 the station, and had this swing ngged up below the lurge cstern
Smith family album, Jack Mason Museun
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Figure 29 - Lighthouse taleony showing original deor 1o first gallery, taken about 1022
Senith farmily albumns, Jark Mason Musetum,

Figure 30 - Visitars an lighthouse baleany, ca. 1922 Smith family album, Jack Mason Moseum,
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Figure 31 « Interior of fog sigual building, 1016, Note similar uppesrunce to later equipment bulliing
Interine, National Park Service.

Figtire 2. Doak guanline engines, fog signal building, 1907, National Park Service
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Figure 33 - Lighthouse tower from cliff below, 1627, National Park Service
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Figure 34 - Mumi
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Figure 35 - Clockwork apparatus and lens pedestal, 1027, National Park Strvice
64
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Figuee 38 - Keeper polishing the lenses, 1827, Natlona! Park Service,
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Figure 77 - Point Rayes lighthouse from sea, 1027, National Park Servico.

Fignre 35 - Point Reyes Lighthouwe from sea, looking north; newly bnilt equipment budliding bebisd
tower, February 1928 National Park Servics
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Mistoric Structires Repart Point Reyes Light Station

Figure 30 - Lighthouse complex with new fog signal equipment building, Juvusty 1, 1920, Photo marked
by photographer, “New fog signal building at Pt Reyes ahowing circulating water tank [next to building]
and distiliate surmp tank [on right]. Nationa! Park Service, courtesy of Frod V. Kruth,

Figure 40 - Interiar of fog signal equipment bullding in 1938, showing compressed alr holding tank ou loft
und gauge board oo wall, both still extant. Natiotia] Park Service
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41 F 19151925 halors maved up ta the lghthouse
Flgure ‘og signal bullding eo h:ﬂﬂhm up ligh complex.
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Figure 42 - Lighthouwes complex in 1935, after fog sigral wis moved to Hghthouss lovel
Natiomal Park Service.

Figuro 43 - Almll photo of Ilshthouu resgrvation, taken Jannary 7. 1034, before fog sigual was moved to
level, Lighth at Jower right 118 Coest Guard Callection
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Figure 45 - Lighthouse tower, April 19841, Note weathorvane. L1S. Cosst Guand
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Figure 47 - Fog signal building, April 1941, Man iy stending ut base of dlapbones. U5 Coast Guard
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Histaric Stroctures Report, Point Reyes Light Sttlon

Figure 43 - Looking up lighthouse stairs, April 1941; keepers dwelling (wi-westher buren builiding
and water tank st top of srafrs. US Coset Gunred.

s

Figure 49 - Looking down lighthouse staivs, April 104, Overfiow water storage tank on left,
gasoline storage shed in center foreground. U5 Cosst Guard
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Figure 50 - Keepers dwelling her batream budiding at top of stabre, April 1841, 118 Coast Guard,

Figure 51 - Dwellings, Apsril 1041, Originul keepess dwelling (18700 in conter, coltages (1885 on right.
US Coast Guard
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T Pemp M=t

Figure 52 - View to west. showing min shod, keapers cottages, outbulldings, Apxil 1841,
LS. Const Griard,
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Figure 53 - Original keepers quarters (huilt 15700, Apnl 1841, U, 8. Coast Guard.
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Figure 55 - Gatages on mad approaching keepers quarters, April 19841, U8, Coast Guard.
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Figuro 56 - Lighth
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Figure 57 - Water tank, keepers dwelllug, west cistern, washouse, 1945 National Park Service,

Figure 58 - View down stairs, 1945, fuel stoeage shod bs om right. Natiosul Park Service
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Flgure 559 - Pump houss ju foreground, double dwelling a2 loft, 1046 Naticnal Park Service

Figure 60 - Large dstern in foregronnd; water tank, wish house, koopars dwelling.
whad two garages, 1965, National Park Service.
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Figure 62 - Aetial photo of lighthotse reservation ca. 1945, The buildings in foreground are the Army
rudat imatallation, U8 Cosst Guand phato,
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Figure 83« Fog signal bullding with F2T horne en. 1850, US. Coast Gaard.
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Figure 64 - Lighthouse eoiplex, cu. 1950, shows F2T horn on fog signal Tight tower, sy
buiflding, transformer hoose. National Park Service
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Figure 85 - Lighth plex, dute unk e 1950, National Park Service.

Figure 66 - Part utIJghUImwmmplu at top of stairs, e uwwau I\nil:“ugatlema ex-weather
butean station. 1S, Coast Guard.
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Figure 7 « Aerial view of lighthouse complex, ca. 1060, Stairs have been replaced, keepers dwilling at
top of stuirs his boety removed. National Park Serviee.

Fignire 68 - Equipment bulldingand new ramp from stalrway, ea. 1900 Nutivoal Park Service
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Figure 89 - Lighthouse complex, 18d0s. Note lantern astragals ave sull] painted dark
N Park Service
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umgmmﬂm Point Aeyas Light Station

Figure 70« Ligh! complex, Fob ry 1971, N | Park Service photo by Thomas Muolhern,

Figure 71 - Lighthousy mwur frrmn fog signal building, Februwry 1671
National Park Service phots by Thomaes Mulhern
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Figure 72- Equipment huﬂﬁmmlwwmfuw building, Febraary 1971; note the
‘whip antenns on the equip itmal Purk Service phota by Thomas Mulhern.

Figure 73- mmawwurmuw supports for watet lanks hsve sinco
been removed  National Park Serviee photo by Thomias Mulhero

&7



Histaric Stroctures Report Point Reves Light Statian

Figure 74 - Fog signal building showing previous J.uq.l.hm upr-n typhon fog horne, February 1871
National Park Secvice photo by Thomis Mulhern.

Fignre 76 - Super Lrphon fog horns temp ily i outside of e lding. 19706, Nota poar
condition of bullding during its last year of us Nn.umnl Park S-arw:e
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Figure 76 - Aerial view of lighthouse, 1975, Ramp m betnig constructed foraccess wo fog signal site, where
this new uteenated alds bullding will be constroned. Nationn! Park Service
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Figurs 77 - Detall of lighthonse ventflator ball and roof prior to stabilization, November 26, 1078,
National Park Service photo by Robert M, Cex

Figure 78 - Dotail of lantern cornice and ladder mil prior 1o stabilization, November 28, 1679, National
Park Service photo by Robert M, Cex
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Histotic Structures Raport: Point Reyes Lignt Stanon

Figures 79 and 80 - Dealls of bronze astragal hand grip und transom eloat ufter whits paim has been
sripped off. There is visible evidence of what appears to be red lead pn thess pieces dexpite cloaning
November 29, 1870 National Park Service photos by Hobert M. Cax
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Figures 81 und 82 « Equipment building in the process of having the paint remaved, November 268, 1670
National Park Service photos by Robert M. Cox.
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Figures 83 mnd &4 « Lighthonse vent ball aftor stabifization, April 24, 1960 Note rusted mounting
brucket for weathervane hise. Nationa Purk Service photoa by Robert M. Cox
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SOURCES OF PHOTOGRAPHS:

Bancroft Library, Berkeley

Fred V. Kreth, Stockton

Jack Mason Museum, Inverness

National Archives, Records of the U.S. Coast Guard

National Park Service, Point Reyes National Seashore

National Park Service, Historic Preservation Branch, Western Region
San Francisco Maritime National Historic Park

U.S. Coast Guard
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Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station

IV. ARCHITECTURAL ANALYSIS
A. INTRODUCTION

The prime objective of this section of the report is to assemble, into one docu-
ment (the historic structures report), the architectural information that has accumu-
lated over the years, especially the last ten years (1979-1989). It was during this
period of time that the most intensive preservation treatments were carried out.
There have been no fewer than four separate architectural thrusts, ending with the
nearly complete restoration of the Point Reyes Lighthouse.

The historic Point Reyes Light Station is located on an extremely rugged
precipice, and as such is subjected to the salt air of the northern California coastal
environment. By the late 1970s, when the initial preservation measures were begun,
the lighthouse and its equipment building were in a state of serious disrepair and ne-
glect. Many of the three-level lighthouse’s iron components were fused together; the
ferrous metal was exfoliating; dissimilar metals were reacting (electrolysis); and the
paint was peeling, leaving no protection for the structure.

Though extensive treatments have been performed on this structure, addi-
tional preservation recommendations will be made in the next section to deal with
solving problems and incorporating newly discovered historic data, setting the stage
for additional preservation treatments of the interior of the equipment building. In
general, this section of the report will fill in known gaps in the existing data base.

B. ASSESSMENT OF CHARACTER-DEFINING FEATURES
AND EXISTING CONDITIONS
1. LIGHTHOUSE
a. EXTERIOR
The exterior of the lighthouse can be described in three basic

components: the base or ground level, the first gallery level (first level), and the
second gallery level and lantern level (second level).
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Ground Level: The base of the structure is a simple sixteen-sided symmetrical
structure. All of the elements listed below are character-defining features, with
modern additions or constructions noted.

1. The base construction of the lighthouse is primarily segmental iron plate
construction surrounded by a concrete slab. The concrete is scored decoratively, ra-
diating out from corner and midpoints of the battered metal wall.

2. There are sixteen canted (105 degrees) and tapered (larger at base) iron
plates, joined at flush iron ribs. Attachments are made at ribs with exposed steel
bolts and rivets.

3. All surfaces are painted gloss white with the exception of a dark gloss green
trim paint at the base and flange.

4. There are two windows in the upper portion of the base. They are single
light, plexigiass, flush (no trim), rectangular in shape, and fill between rib segments.
These windows show signs of having been damaged (scratched) during past paint
removal treatments.

5. There is one hooded entry door. It is located between rib segments. The
door is a four-panel (modern), single leaf, Historically this door swung out.

6. At the top of the wall plates there are exposed (semi-arched) cast iron
supports at each rib to support the first-level gallery deck above.

First Gallery Level: This is actually the second level of the structure, accessed by a
cat walk from the area just in front of the equipment building. It has a gallery deck
that encircles the structure with a guard rail. All of the elements listed below are
character-defining features.

1. Sixteen decorative recessed panel castings make up the wall of the first
level gallery. They are painted gloss white. At this point the walls become vertical,
breaking from the cant at the base of the panel assemblies (see historic drawings).
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2. Sixteen striated iron plates make up the first level gallery deck, painted
gloss black.

3. The gallery deck is ringed by heavy iron balusters, railings and posts. Posts
and balustrades are round, the railing rectangular, the tops of the posts capped by
spherical iron finials (fifteen, one is missing); all of these elements are painted gloss
green. There are sixteen segments of actual decking.

4. A simple ship-type ladder has been removed (for obvious safety reasons)
from the first-level gallery. The missing deck plate on the second-level gallery indi-
cates the location of this feature.

5. At the top of the wall panel plates, exposed cast iron, semi-arched supports
at each rib support the second-level gallery deck above. Vent openings are located
between every other support, just below the deck.

6. There is one hooded entry door. It is located between rib segments. It
contains a cast iron, welded, four-panel door, painted gloss white. A large brass rim-
lock is exposed on the interior.

Second Gallery Level: This is actually the third level of the structure. The exte-
rior gallery deck is accessed historically by a ladder from the first gallery level. All of the
elements listed below are character-defining features.

1. The lantern walls are glazed continuously with sixteen rectangular, seg- -
mental sections of three lights apiece. The vertical segments are separated by metal
astragals, the horizontal by transom elements, painted gloss white.

2. There are hand holds at the mid-points of the upper two rows of lantern
lights, located on the vertical astragals, painted gloss white,

3. The lantern roof is divided with the same segmental (sixteen panel) con-
struction, similar to the rest of the structure. Distinctive standing seams (the origi-
nal vertical seams were covered by one simple lap in 1980) identify the connections of
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roof panels, which intersect at the circular mount for the ventilator. Conical in
shape, the roof has a spherical ventilator (vent ball or lamp chimney) at its pinnacle,
topped by a tapered lightning rod, painted flat red (Red Lead). The concave iron
cornice and horizontal iron pipe rail (for removable ladder support), which spans
between astragal positions inside the concave shape of the cornice, are all painted
gloss green.

4. A simple cast iron railing, composed of tapered and rounded balusters, a top
and bottom rail, is set at the perimeter of the metal deck. The railing and balusters
are painted green. Balusters are bolted to the extreme outer points of the sixteen
gallery deck joints. They are also capped by rounded copper alloy nuts (according to
restoration drawings 80,021).

b. INTERIOR

The interior of the lighthouse can also be described in three basic
components: the base or ground level, the first gallery level (second level), and the
second gallery level and lantern level (third level).

Ground Level: The interior of the ground level is simple and utilitarian. Like the
exterior, the sixteen-sided wall construction and basic structural system are reflected
on the interior of this level. The following elements are character-defining features.

1. The walls consist of painted iron panels situated between exposed vertical
uprights. These supports are canted 105 degrees toward the center of the structure,
intersecting with exposed floor beams at the outer perimeter above. All bolt and
rivet connections are visible. There are two rectangular ports.

2. The ceiling, like the walls, has exposed structural components. These
painted iron beams have exposed iron deck panels situated between them, intersect-
ing the top of a large vertical pipe column at the center of the structure, like the
spokes of a wheel. All bolt and rivet connections are visible. These elements are
painted gloss white,

An opening in the ceiling for stair access to the first gallery level has two deck
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sections and two hinged trap doors. The trap doors are held open on the first gallery
level by metal latches and a non-historic steel grating fills the open hatch.

3. There is a cast iron spiral stair case, railing and balustrades, accessing the
second level. This assembly is painted gloss blue-grey, beginning at the northwest-
erly part of the room,

4. The floor of the ground level consists of sixteen segmental iron deck and
bed plates with flush joints, tapering to the center. They are painted with glossy
orange paint that also covers the bottom six to eight inches of the walls, Exposéd
iron piers and large bolts anchor the uprights at the segmental bed plates.

5. A large diameter iron pipe, called a drop tube or weight trunk, containing
the clock weight, enters this space approximately midway between the center and
outer walls. It appears nearly vertical and is painted gloss white.

First Gallery Level: This level is dominated by the intricate clockwork machinery
that supplies power for rotating the first order lens. The following elements are
character-defining features,

1. The walls of this level are segmented into the characteristic sixteen flat surfaces,
reflective of the exterior iron plates. They are clad with vertical, beaded, tongue-
and-groove wall boards, painted gloss white, and canted inward from the floor to ap-
proximately halfway between the ceiling and the floor. The walls break to vertical at
this point and continue to the ceiling. There are painted wood moldings located at
the transitions of all flat segmental sections.

2. Five wood cabinets are located on the easterly and southerly wall segments.
They have vertical doors and faces, flush with the upper vertical portion of the wall,
all painted gloss white. Interiors of these cabinets are painted gloss gray. One of
them, the fifth in a clockwise direction, has an open shelf painted red. Between the
fourth and fifth closet is a gap the size of a closet space. This is where the weight
hangs (there is a rounded metal cut-out where the wall breaks to vertical to allow

passage of the weight).
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3. The clock-weight, its cable and pulley assembly, are all visible at the south
end of the room. Electrical control boxes and utilities are surface mounted on the
north side.

4. There is a circular cast iron stairway with railing and balustrades, starting up to
the second gallery level at the southwesterly portion of the space. Its construction differs
from the one on the ground level in that it does not have the decorative cast iron
stringers. Instead, it has a simple, flat stringer on the outboard side with only bolted
treads to the inboard. The whole assembly is painted the same blue-gray color as the
one on the ground level.

5. The floor is covered with resilient floor tiles; however, there is evidence of a
painted wood, tongue-and-groove floor underneath.

6. The ceiling consists of exposed beams and in-fill floor panels for the second level
gallery. They, like the ground level ceiling elements, radiate out from the center,
with an opening shaped like a key hole to receive the lens assembly, allowing it to
turn freely (the small circular stair inside the lens assembly remains stationary).

ﬁ—--_-‘-

7. In the very center of the space is the clockwork mechanism supporting the lens
and lamp assembly above.

Second Level Gallery: The second level gallery is a highly complex space, as it
contains the actual lighthouse lens.

1. The first order Fresnel lens is ten feet high and six feet in diameter, con-
sisting of segmented glass prisms and bulls-eyes. This is a stationary light, with movable
lens, and is still functional. The light is now electrically powered.

2. The outer walls at this level are segmented vertically by iron astragals into six-
teen glass panels, each divided horizontally into three rectangular-shaped sections.
There is a base gutter with vent shutters at every other segment, at the bottom
course of glass panels. Transom gutters of cast copper alloy separate the upper two
courses of rectangular glass panels. This glass lantern intersects with the roof as-
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sembly along the top edge of the upper course of glass panels at a copper alloy tran-
som bar. The interior gutters described are for catching and evaporating condensa-
tion from the glass.

3. The ceiling has several dominant elements, the first of which is an array of
iron tie rods, painted gloss white. There are sixteen of these elements radiating out
from a small metal ring with four spokes (spider frame) suspended at the center of
the structure. This assembly is supported by eight vertical rods bolted to eight
(every other one) of the sixteen metal rafters above. This framework holds a cone-
shaped lead-coated copper chimney (called a lure), seven feet in diameter, poised
directly over the center of the lens. The horizontal tie rods also bolt into the cast
iron cornice brackets just above the lantern wall, with a continuous curtain rod on
mounting brackets just below. The ceiling above is flush with the bottom of the
rafters and the chimney is clad with zinc panels painted white,

2. EQUIPMENT BUILDING
a. EXTERIOR

The exterior of the equipment building will be described by
individual architectural components. All of the exterior elements listed below are
character defining features, including any ghosts (visible impressions and outlines
left from past alterations).

1. Walls: All walls are sheathed with one-by-eight horizontal drop siding,
painted white.

2. Windows: There are three types of windows: six over six, double hung; four
over four, double hung; and one over one, hopper type. These are wood sash win-
dows with rails, stiles, and muntins painted dark green. They are glazed with unob-
scured glass.

The sill line of windows vary according to functions inside the structure. All of
the windows at the west end of the structure are in keeping with the interior function
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(watch and T.V. rooms). All windows in the machinery portion of the structure have
their heads at the eave line. The west gable end has two symmetrically located
hopper windows and the east, a single hopper window. One other hopper window is
located at the western third of the south elevation, its sill even with neighboring
windows to the east.

3. Doors: The main entrance door on the west elevation is a single-leaf, wood-
panel door. There is one light in the upper half of the door and a single wood panel
in the lower part.

On the east wall of the building there is a set of large wood utility doors. Each
are single leaf, two panel sliding doors. The panels consist of vertical tongue-and-
groove boards and upper and middle rails are twice the width of the bottom rail. The
door to the north has been modified with a non-historic, non-character-defining
single-leaf door. These doors are painted the same green as the trim.

There is visible evidence (obvious in-fill with siding) of a past entry door at the
west end of the south elevation.

4. Trim: The entire structure is trimmed out with one-by boards, varying
from three to six inches in width, The wider trim at doors and windows, the nar-
rower at corners, all painted the same dark green as the lighthouse trim.

5. Roof: The roof is gabled and covered with asbestos shingles, painted the
same red as the light house roof. Its slope is approximately two in twelve. The eaves and
rake have a closed soffit and are painted white. There is a masonry chimney at the far west
end of the roof’s ridge, and two patches at equal thirds along the ridge from missing
attic ventilators; all of these roof features are painted the same red as the roof.

6. The following are historic equipment mounts that remain on the walls of
the building.

West Elevation: Fire hose storage box, antenna mounting bracket, and two
other round equipment mounts.

South Elevation: Two horizontal mounts (structural supports for diesel fuel
tank inside) near the mid-point of the structure.
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East Elevation: Surface-mounted electrical conduit and boxes, fire hose stor-
age box.

North Elevation: Surface-mounted electrical conduit and boxes.

7. The following historic site features remain intact.

West Elevation: There is a concrete apron at the same level as the floor of the
equipment building. A chain-link fence borders the edge of the slab (steel posts and
rails on the north and west, wood posts and rails on the south), with an entry open-
ing to the lighthouse tower on the southwest corner. The apron has a primary access
from a concrete sidewalk at its southeast corner.

South Elevation: The sidewalk, as identified in the west elevation, runs the
full length of the south elevation, with painted wood posts and rails chain-link fence.
Primary access is from the east. '

East Elevation: There is a concrete entrance apron on the east side, similar to
the one on the west. A chain-link fence borders the edge of the slab, steel posts and
rails on the north, south, and east. Main access is from the northeast corner.

North Elevation: The north elevation is not accessible; however, there are
two (triangular shaped) concrete brackets mounted on an exposed concrete wall.
This exposed foundation wall fills the void between steep rock outcroppings below
the equipment building. :

b. INTERIOR

The interior of the equipment building still contains all of the
historic machinery used when the lighthouse was in operation. There are three
primary spaces, the watch room, T.V. room, and machinery room. All of the interior
elements listed below are character-defining features including visible impressions
and outlines left from past alterations.
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Watch Room: Tongue-and-groove wall and ceiling cladding, painted, three and one-
half inches wide; built-in wooden desk and drawers, painted, with plywood top var-
nished; five-panel wood doors and four-over-four, double hung windows, painted;
windows and doors are trimmed out with one-by-six boards, painted the same color
as walls; electrical conduit, boxes, and light fixtures, surface mounted and painted,;
composition floor tiles cover the concrete floor slab (they appear as flecks of dark
gray and white in a field of light gray, laid with the pattern grain perpendicular); and
a closet (formerly lavatory), with small two-light window.

T.V. Room (formerly Tool and Storage Room): Tongue-and-groove wall and
ceiling cladding, painted, three and one-half inches wide; built-in wooden cabinets,
counters and shelves, painted on all but working surfaces (floor tiles used on these
surfaces); five-panel wood door and four-over-four double hung window, painted;
window and doors trimmed out with one-by-six boards, painted the same color as the
walls; electrical conduit, boxes, and light fixtures, surface mounted and painted; and
the same floor tiles as the Watch Room.

Machinery Room (formerly Engine Room): Tongue-and-groove wall (vertical at
walls) and ceiling (longitudinal at ceiling) cladding, linseed oiled or varnished, three
and one-half inches wide; walls are soffited at either side of the windows (similar to a
gambrel roof); painted concrete floor, raised compressor slab, and metal covered serv-
ice trenches; all existing machinery, batteries, tanks, instruments, controllers, hoses
and pipes, most of them painted; shield shaped and varnished wood plaque, with
light house graphics and mounted pressure gauges (gauge board) on the north wall;
all painted signage and warning stripes; all large six-over-six, double-hung windows,
with painted wood sashes and trim; all electrical fixtures, exposed conduit and boxes;
ceramic sink; and ladder and hatch door to loft above watch and T.V. rooms.
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C. PHYSICAL CHRONOLOGY, LIGHTHOUSE AND EQUIPMENT
BUILDING

Due to the fact that the Point Reyes Lighthouse and Equipment Building have
been treated extensively over the last decade, this report relies heavily on existing
records, i.e., contract specifications, drawings, field notes, historic and later photo-
graphs, and interviews with participants. For the most part this information has
been well documented, considering the depth and complexity of the work undertaken
in the past. However, a major concern is the known loss of physical data on both
structures due to comprehensive paint removal without significant sampling. Since
Munsell color comparisons and chronological layering were not documented in a
conventional manner prior to the time of paint removal, some or all of the then-
extant physical data has either been destroyed or remains gquite limited.

1. EXAMINATION OF HISTORIC PHOTOGRAPHS

The following are observations of architectural changes based on his-
toric photographs.

1870 - 1945 1870 photos appear to indicate the lighthouse was only partially
painted (railings painted, other parts possibly primed), yet sub-
stantially complete otherwise. There is an oval shape (sign?) on
thelower door in one photo with the door open, and noshape
visible in another photo taken the same year with the door closed
(this should rule out it being a port hole).

1905 photos are the earliest evidence that the Lighthouse was
painted, with the roof and lantern elements a contrasting color.

A circa 1920 photo indicates same oval shape on ground level
door, which is possibly a sign. First gallery level door appears to
be constructed of wood. The existing door appears to be a copy in
welded metal.
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1945 - 1973

1973 - 1979

1929 photos indicate the earliest evidence of the existing equip-
ment building, which replaced a similar frame structure on the
same site. The equipment building has the entry on the south
wall. Window, door trim, and ventilators are painted dark (the
roof does not appear to be painted yet). These same photos also
indicate the lighthouse roof, astragals, and railings are painted a
darker color than the tower. Other site features include the
concrete transformer building, storage tanks on the south wall of
the equipment building, and a concrete pad around the light-
house.

1935 photos indicate the addition of the weathervane base on the
lighthouse tower, another storage tank on the south side of the
equipment building and a new fog horn building. Paint schemes
appear to be the same as in the 1929 photos. There is an interior
view of the gauge board in the equipment building with the air
storage tank to the left. On the exterior of the equipment build-
ing, the ventilator to the east has been changed.

1941 photos of the lighthouse indicate the weathervane base
still in place, paint scheme unchanged. The equipment building
lacks contrasting corner trim paint.

1945 photos indicate the color scheme of the lighthouse appears
to have remained consistent from 1929, the weathervane base is
not visible. The equipment building has now had both ventila-
tors modified, the entry door moved to the west, east door modi-
fied, and the roof still unpainted. Sometime during this period, a
whip antenna was added to the roof just to the east of the chim-
ney, the previous one on the roof removed.

1973 black-and-white photos indicate the color scheme of the
lighthouse has been changed. Astragals and transoms in the
lantern no longer contrast with the tower. The roof appears to
contrast, but is weathered. One photo shows the oval shape,
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seen in much earlier (1870) photos, on the first gallery level door.
The equipment building has a whip antenna mounted on the
west wall, both ventilators capped, the roof appears painted, and
a weather equipment tower is mounted between the capped ven-
tilators.

1979 color photos of the lighthouse indicate fairly con-

clusively that the light-colored (probably white) paint applied in
late '60s or early '70s had a red lead color underneath, which
matches the roof color. This could account for the roof and lan-
tern elements appearing dark in previous historic photographs.

2. WORK PERFORMED 1979-1990

The following are general descriptions of work performed by the National
Park Service from all three major contracting phases, from 1979 to the present.

1979 - 1980

1981 - 1982

1982 - 1983

Contract CX 8000-9-0031: PAINTING AND ROOF REPAIR OF
THE POINT REYES LIGHTHOUSE AND EQUIPMENT
BUILDING.

Sandblast to white metal all metal parts of the lower structure of
the lighthouse, from the bottom of the glass lantern to grade,
followed immediately by undercoating of metal parts to prevent
rusting. New red roofing material patching the lighthouse roof
and finial. Scrape and sand (existing paint was burned off with a
gas torch) the wood surfaces of the equipment shop (equipment
building), a wood building adjacent to the lighthouse, and re-
paint it to match the existing colors.

Touch up painting. 1979 specifications appear to have been
reused.

Contract CX 8000-2-0043 RESTORATION OF METALWORK,
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LIGHTHOUSE LANTERN, POINT REYES NATIONAL SEA-
SHORE (see set of seven drawings, 612/80,021).

General construction for the restoration of the Point Reyes
Lighthouse: interior and exterior sandblasting, metal cleaning
and painting; as well as structural stabilization of the lantern roof
framing, glazing, manufacturing metal components; the provision
of a canvas lantern curtain and hardware, a fabric lens and clock
work protective garment for use during construction, and a sheet
metal chimney over the spider frame.

1983 - 1984 Touch up painting. Paint ordered on purchase order PX
853040072
1988 - 1989 Contract CX-8000-8-9008 PRESERVATION OF LIGHTHOUSE

FACILITY (see set of nine drawings 612/25,003).

The work of this contract consists of the general preservation of
the Point Reyes Lighthouse. The work includes surface prepara-
tion and painting of exterior and interior features at the light-
house and equipment building, the replacement of lighthouse
lantern plastic glazing, including fabrication of a new metal
rabbet insert, the rehabilitation of windows in the equipment
building, and replacement wood door and frame in the light-
house.
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1979 EXTERIOCR PAINTING

SURFACE __“_CONDITION

LAYER #1 LAYER #2 LAYER #3 LAYER #4 NOTES
EQUIPMENT BARE WOOD 2 COATS PRIMER 60-A- | COLOR BASE: U.S. PAINT
BUILDING URETHANE 20 GRAY, 6011-OFF WHITE
WALLS SEALER, 1ST CATALYST 60- | CODE: 82-W-270 FROM SPECS

REDUCED 1 TO | 65 A CATALYST B82-6-
2 WI. THINNER 84
T~837, 2ND
FULL STRENGTH
EQUIPMENT n " 1" " " " COLOR BASE: " "
BUILDING SAGE GREEN
TRIM CODE: 82-G-169
CATALYST 82-C-
84, MUNSELL
7.5 CY-5/2
LIGHTHOUSE COLORS TO
CORNICE MATCH OFF-
FREE STAND- | WHITE METAL| NOXIDE RED OIL BASE OIL BASE OIL BASE WHITE &
ING RAILING LEAD PRIMER HOUSE PAINT HOUSE PAINT HOUSE PAINT! SAGE GREEN
MULLIONS
MUNTINS FROM SPECS
LIGHTHOUSE CLEANED, 5% BENZOL PRIMER: 666-A-|FINISH~2 COATS U.S. PAINT
ROOF AND STABILIZED, | TRIAZOLE 7-545 GLASS- |60 R 24 RED 545
BALL COPPER || PATCHED & |APPLIED WI. GUARD PRIMER, [EPOXY OXIDE
SOLDERED SCOURING PADS |CATALYST: 666-|PRIMER
TO ROUGHEN C-1 GLASSGUARD
SURFACE CATALYST FROM MEMO
LIGHTHOUSE J " FINISH-AWLGRIP U.S. PAINT
METALWORK WHITE METAL{ZINC PRIME 100 GLASSGUARD POLY-
LANTERN WI. T-10 THIN- URETHANE ENAMEL
GLAZING TO NER 666, THINNER T-
GRADE 816

FROM SPECS




1981 TOUCH-UP PAINTING
SURFACE CONDITION LAYER #1 LAYER #2 LAYER #3 LAYER #4 NOTES
= ———————
U.5. PAINT
LIGHTHOUSE CLEANED OF AWLGRIP 545 666 GLASSGUARD
LOOSE PAINT, { PRIMER, WI. 6C|TOPCOAT, 82~
RUST, COR- =C-65 CATALYST|C-147 AWLCAT
ROSION T=1109 BRUSH- |BRUSHING
ING REDUCER CATALYST #3 FROM MEMO
EQUIPMENT " " " " 82-~-AWLGRIP " "
BUILDING TOPCOAT, 82-C-
147, AWLCAT 23
BRUSHING
—
1982 PAINTING
=
SURFACE CONDITION LAYER #§1 LAYER §2 LAYER #3 LAYER §#4 NOTES
COPPER ROOF FAIR RED LEAD PRIME|RED LEAD PRIME
FROM SPECS
INTERIOR/ SCRAPE & SUN-PROOF FINISH COAT FINISH COAT PITTSBURGH
EXTERIOR SAND TO REM-|UNIVERSAL SUNPROOF CIL SUNPROOF OIL PAINTS
WOODWORK OVE LOOSE PRIMER 1-70 OR|TYPE HOUSE & TYPE HOUSE &
PAINT 1-870 TRIM TRIM FROM SPECS
NONFERROUS SCRAPING & EPOXY PRIMER 666—A 545 AWLGRIP POLYURE- U.S5. PAINTS
HETALS—EXCL.“PAINT REMOV-|30Y94 PRIMER THANE ENAMEL,
ROCF ER CLEANED 666-C-1 CATAL-|T-816 THINNER
¥YST, T-971
THINNER FROM SPECS
FERROUS & SANDBLASTED |ZINC PRIME 100 " " " " " "
STAINLESS OR POWER T-10 PRIMER
STEEL CLEANED TO
WHITE METAL




1984 PAINTING
SURFACE CONDITION LAYER #1 LAYER #2 LAYER §3 LAYER #4 NOTES
=T,
EQUIPMERNT ? AWLGRIP 545 AWLGRIP POLY- U.S. PAINTS
BUILDING EPOXY PRIMER, |URETHANE ENAM.
SIDING 60-C—-65A BASE: 6011-0OFF
CATALYST, WHITE
T-1109 THINNER|CATALYST: AWL-
-BRUSH ON CAT #3, T-1109%
BRUSH ON FROM SPECS
EQUIPMENT " " AWLGRIP POLY- |AWLGRIP POLYURE-
BUILDING ? URETHANE ENAM.|THANE " "
TRIM BASE: 8059 BASE: 8059 GREEN
GREEN CATALYST: AWL-
CATALYST: AWL-|CAT #3, T~1109
CAT 43, T-1109!BRUSH ON
BRUSH ON
LIGHTHOUSE ? ZINC PRIMER AWLGRIP 545

CATHA-COAT 302

PRIMER WI. 60-
C-65 CATALYST

AWLGRIP POLYURE-
THANE ENAMEL

U.S. PAINTS

INVOICE




1966 PROPOSED PAINTING
SURFACE CONDITION LAYER #1 LAYER 02 LAYER #3 LAYER #4 NOTES
EQUIPHMENT CLEAN, SCUFF|545 EPOXY AWLGRIP POLY-
BUILDING & SAND PRIMER URETHANE
(WOOD) ENAMEL
EQUIPHENT L) ] 1] n 1] [1] n
BUILDING
TRIM
LIGHTHOUSE |[|SCRAPE/ ZINC prime 100| 545 PRIMER 545 PRIMER, AWLGRIP
FERROUS BLAST RUST BRUSH APPLIED POLYURETHANE
METALS, SPOTS TO AT BOLTS, EDGES, |ENAMEL
EXCLUDING BARE METAL SHARP CORNERS CATALYST &
ROOF THINNER
LIGHTHOUSE " " 30-Y-94 EPOXY| 545 PRIMER AWLGRIP POLYUR-
NONFERROUS PRIMER CATALYST & ETHANE ENAMEL
METALS THINNER CATALYST &

THINNER
EQUIPMENT ABRASIVE 545 EPOXY 545 EPOXY AWLGRIP POLYUR-
BUILDING GRIND TO PRIMER, CLEAR |PRIMER, CLEAR |ETHANE TOPCOAT
INTERIOR REMOVE OLD |D-3020 D-3020
CONCRETE PAINT &
FLOOR CLEAN
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METHOD ¢
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SYSTEM

REMARKS/NOTES
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NEW UNPAINT-

n n

ED WOOD
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NONFERROUS 9100 HIGH PER~ " " " "
METALS FORMANCE EPOXY
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PRIMER




LIGHTHOUSBE PAINT COLOR SCHEDULE (as of 12/88)
EXTERIOR

ROOF VENTILATOR BALL AND COLLAR, LIGHTNING ROD AND COLLAR...:ccccrsssr200....MATCH EXISTING
CORNICE CLEATS'....I.....'.I'...."IIII....'...-.....II".'I.'III"...I.....U.S. PAIM 8059

CORNICEiliuilt.l-o..ll.n..l.livtlil..o---nl..l.nt..li.l..l...l.i.--..n..-..l w " "

SECOND GALLERY DECK.....vscactcanssesosnssecasossaasnssosonssasasssassssssss FLOOR BORDER N 5/10%
FLOOR TREADS N 1/0*
SECOND GALLERY HANDRAIL.. 2o it eessrsasacsneanssncnssssnsasssssncsssssnscsssnees+U.S. PAINT 8059
FIRST GALLERY HANDRAIL..:eccooesesossssossscossssscscassvnnvonsssannassssssssossJ.S, PAINT 9100
TOWER. ¢ c s oo susavsossasssoveassnnssssassssossansssnssvsssasrsnassassrsssnsssssWALLS U.S., PAINT 6011
BASE U.S. PAINT 8059

INTERIOR/EXTERIOR

LANTERN ASTRAGALS .. ....csvsaconacoosasosrnvvossvcnsonnsasosossssnssssentssannalUsSa PAINT 6011
LANTERN GLAZING FRAME. .. . . cneecccesssosssssanccncssarrorssnocsasossssacnnnoce "
FIRST GALLERY DOOR & CASING. ... csscusmtvtosansssssasnssnsnorsssssssssasnsanns " "
GROUND LEVEL DOOR & CASING. ... .coovsesvanscosscsnnsssssasassnennsarssccssscnce W " "

IKTERIOR

FIRST GALLERY PANELING. ... .cccvtsarrvestesstsannsascsasasnsacassarssvrarnssnnns DY 9/1%

FIRST GALLERY CABINETS .. v .cvesevacsssssnssssnsnssscsccsrsssssnsnnssesssnsssesss INTERIOR N 5/0%
EXTERIOR 5Y 9/1*

FIRST GALLERY EXTINGUISHER NICHE...... .. tcveeeaansasaavssasncasassssasernsssl SR 3/8%

FIRST GALLERY CONDUIT & BOXES. ... s cvevoasavonosncscncscscssssnstaarrsonnvssaaasrl0OB 5/10%

GROUND LEVEL WALLS . ...c000svatssasesssovevcasssssasssensssnsasasssassssssrressU.S PAINT 6011

GROUND LEVEL, FICOOR & BASE BORDER. . .2 e+t csssasevenvsssnsncannnsssnrscnscsssend.0YR 6/12%

*MUNSELL COLOR CODE
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EXTERIOR

SIDI“G&“EST DooRt'.|.-o-t--nnnl0.0..‘io.niinln---o..onn.lt.-..-oni..lo..llvU-Sn pAINT 6011
TRIM, WINDOW STOPS, SASHES, CASINGS & EAST DOORS...:..sess00c0v0ssss0es2esss..U.5. PAINT 8059

FIREHOSE meS'.‘."..I..‘....-..I'.I.....'.........".I....l-ll.l..........mTCHExISTING (RED)
ELECI'RICAL CONDUIT&meSI.I...........l........Q..'..l.....'l........‘.....mTcH SURROUNDING

INTERIOR

WINDOW TRIM & STOPS..........................................................HATCH EXISTING
MACHINERY ROOM BASE MOLDING/BORDER..:::cccveesvnnnsssssocensasssscnnnsnoosans

MACHINERY ROOM FLOOR. s e s s o scsencevnossnsnsensesosnmossassoncnnsssrsnsonsssnesss " "
MACHINERY ROOM TRENCH COVER PLATES. . .cctucasrvssnsansasssssessssessrasronsoecea " "
MACHINERY ROOM FLOOR SIGNAGE. . . s oococesvsnoonnavrosnnossssssssnrsossmnsnsnss " "
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Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station

V. SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The basic physical configuration of the lighthouse and equipment building has
varied only slightly since they were constructed. The most significant historic ap-
pearance, from an integrity point of view, appears to be between 1929 and 1941,
when they existed together and underwent the least amount of physical change,
compared with their evolved appearance today. These criteria underlie recommen-
dations for preservation and restoration.

All paint sampling should be performed by an individual qualified in historic
paint sampling and analysis. All samples should be carefully preserved, Munsell
coded, and accessioned into the park collection for possible future research.

The following elements of these structures bear further discussion, and will be

~ linked to architectural recommendations.

A. LIGHTHOUSE
1. SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS

Lantern Roof: Historic photographs show evidence of a past weather vane base
(stationary compass rose) mounted just above the ventilation ball on the lightning
rod (removed in 1979-80). The color of the standing seam copper roof (presently red)
is an important issue. The earliest known photographs (ca. 1870) appear to indicate
there was no paint on the roof then, but it was probably still in the process of being
painted. Subsequent photos all indicate the roof painted a contrasting shade (dark).
Historical records show two color schemes that differ from the current one: in 1889
the roof was red, the balustrades black, the astragals apparently white, on a white
tower; in 1924 the roof and lantern were black, the balustrades apparently black on a
white tower.

Lantern Astragals and Transoms: Currently there are leaks in the astragals
despite the recent (1988) restoration work. These leaks are in the form of small
balloons of moisture trapped under the new interior paint. According to information
available on the last contract for reglazing the lantern, a bead of sealant was used to
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seal these cleats and bolts. There may be gaps in this material, leading to leaks.

Like the roof, there has been some doubt as to the historic color of the astra-
gals and transoms, as evidenced by the historic photographs (they are presently
painted white). The data here would seem to indicate that the astragals were dark
from approximately 1905 to 1945. The earliest known photographs (ca. 1870), al-
though black-and-white, appear to indicate there may have been no paint on the as-
tragals. Analysis of 1979 color photos leaves unclear if the roof was always red (his-
torical data appear to support a black roof until circa 1941).

Ground Level Entry: A ca. 1870s historic photograph clearly indicates the back-
side of a single-leaf door, hinged to swing out. Another photograph, dated ca. 1910,
shows the same door with what looks like an oval shape in the upper half. Asstated
previously, this shape may be a sign of some type.

First Gallery Level Entry: In circa 1870 - 1920s photographs, a single-leaf, four-
panel door, with exposed bolts is clearly shown. It is difficult to know exactly what
material this door was constructed of (wood or iron components), because of these

bolt connections at rails and stiles. The existing door is a welded metal copy (ca.
1934) of this earlier door.

First Gallery Level Clockwork: Certain portions of the clockwork assembly are
painted red. For the most part this paint is in fair condition with some cracking,
dulling from oxidation, and chipping.

Immediate Site: There are signs of the concrete slab eroding around the base of
the Lighthouse tower. This appears to be causing some puddling and runoff prob-
lems.

2. RECOMMENDED PRESERVATION TREATMENTS

Lantern Astragals and transoms: It is recommended that the astragals and
transom cleats, located on the lantern exterior, be removed at locations where there

are existing leaks and old caulking completely removed (quality control at the time of

contract installation may account for failure). New sealant of the same type and
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quality as installed in 1988 should be reinstalled. Additionally, neoprene gasket/
washers should be placed at all bolt head locations. As an alternative to the sealant,
or if its reinstallation does not solve the problem, continuous neoprene gaskets could
be installed under the cleats in place of sealant.

These areas must be monitored closely to ascertain if the moisture penetra-
tion continues. Should these treatments prove to be successful, then the detail can
be expanded to include all remaining astragal and transom elements, when required,
as a part of cyclic maintenance. If not, then the detail will have to be reevaluated by
the Regional Historical Architect and a different approach taken.

Roof, Astragal, Color Scheme: It is recommended that the astragals and tran-
soms be painted the same color as the roof at the next cycle of painting, or after
repair work has been performed.

‘ Paint Schedule: It is recommended that the most recent paint schedule used in

treating the lighthouse be used as a primary reference for future work (1988 contract
CX-8000-8-9008). The specifications contained in this contract document are the
result of thorough and comprehensive research of all previously known or available
paint data since 1979. A chronological summary of this material is provided at the
end of the Architectural Analysis (Section IV).

Flooring, First Gallery Level: It is recommended that the existing tile be re-
moved, the wood tongue-and-groove floor beneath be exposed and paint samples
taken. This would also require removal of the asphalt-based adhesive, inspection
and repair of any damaged floorboards, and treatment with a high quality deck paint
that matches the historic color and texture. The paint layer would then become the
sacrificial layer of protection, necessitating careful periodic inspection and cyclical
treatment.

All historic ghosting should be documented by field drawings and photographs.
Historic dents or wear marks should be preserved by the cyclical application of paint.

Clockwork, First Gallery Level: It is recommended that the painted portions of
the clock mechanism be sampled and documented in a similar manner as outlined for
metal features in the equipment building. The condition of this paint should be
monitored as part of cyclic maintenance inspection and treatment scheduled.
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Ground Level Door: It is recommended that the existing (non-historic) door be
removed. According to historic photographs, the historic door swung out, rather
than in as it does now, and appeared to be constructed of thick wood or sheet metal.
An early photograph taken shortly after the lighthouse was built, indicates a simple
(no panels) single-leaf door.

By changing the swing of this first-level door, it will not only improve the
accuracy of the historic appearance, but it will also increase the weatherability of this
particular location (by allowing the jamb and head to seat against the inside face of

the door, instead of the reverse), which has been problematic in the past. The speci-

fication and design for this element should be provided by the Regional Historical
Architect.

Entry Level Windows: It is recommended that the two windows in this area be
replaced with the same thickness and type of material that is presently in use in the
lantern.

Weathervane Base: It is recommended that the weathervane base, which is visible
on a number of the historic photographs, be restored. It is installed at the base of
the lightning rod. The specification and design for this element should be provided
by the Regional Historical Architect.

Immediate Site: It is recommended that the concrete slab around the base of the
tower be closely monitored to determine if there is standing water after periods of
rain. If this appears to be a problem, a specification and design to solve this should
be provided by the Regional Historical Architect.

Previous Paint Samples: Prior to any additional undertakings, it is recommended
that all pervious paint samples taken prior to sandblasting be tested by a qualified
professional. There may be physical evidence of black paint which would support
historic data.
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B. EQUIPMENT BUILDING
1. SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS

The equipment building exterior walls have received extensive treatment over
the last decade. The old paint was burned off with a gas torch in 1979. The walls
were stripped of paint down to bare wood in 1980 and new paint applied. In 1988 the
windows underwent complete rehabilitation.

a. EXTERIOR

Roof: Based on historic records,! the original shingles were of asbestos composition.
The existing shingles are painted red on their exposed weathering surfaces. The raw
unpainted substrate is a hard, brittle, gray, cementitious material, one-quarter of an
inch thick, with a twelve-inch exposure. According to park maintenance staff, the
original asbestos shingles were replaced with poor quality cement/asbestos shingles
(Supraslate) in 1980. The roof does have leaks at this time. Shingles are brittle and
are falling off the structure.

There have been minor modifications to the roof concerning the chimney and
the two roof ventilators. The ventilators changed configuration several times prior
to WW II, the west one gone by 1945, the other modified; by 1967, only stubs re-
mained. The chimney has a curious masonry and wood frame at its base. This, as
determined by historic photographs, was installed sometime after 1941, as an an-
tenna mount (the antenna was moved to the west wall sometime after WW II). Roof
patches where the ventilators used to be, and the antenna mount, are extant. The
chimney is painted the same red color as the roof shingles.

Walls: There have been very few actual changes to the exterior walls of the equip-
ment building. The most significant was the in-filling of a door opening on the west
end of the south elevation and the adaptation of the sliding door on the east wall to a
single-leaf configuration. Based on the historic photographs, the south door opening

!San Francisco District 683: 1 May, 1941, United States Coast Guard records; Power
House. A 20°x46’ frame building, with rustic siding, asbestos shingled, gable roof, concrete floor and
foundation walls.
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was removed sometime between 1935 and 1945, the east door opening installed later,
after 1945. It is not known if the existing door opening on the west was always there
or added when the south door was filled in.

Fire hose boxes and additional electrical conduit were added sometime after
1945, as was the antenna mast on the west wall (the antenna remained until about
1974). Only a metal mount still remains, located between the two attic windows.

b. INTERIOR

Features, Artifacts: The interior of the equipment building, as previously de-
scribed, still has much of the historic fabric from its significant period of operation.
The condition of machinery and electrical apparatus is of primary concern, as is the
state of interior architectural materials.

Windows: The windows are in excellent condition because of the recent contract
work in 1988. All sash, casings, and trim are recently painted.

Walls and Ceiling: The three and one-half inch interior cladding that covers both
the walls and ceilings is treated in two different manners, as previously discussed.
This historic fabric is in fair condition overall, except in the machine room, where it
has been exposed to excessive sunlight (ultraviolet light) due to the large windows
probably being uncovered through the years. The clear finish that was originally
applied, either varnish or linseed oil, has become severely alligatored and discolored.
There is some moisture damage in areas that are near windows that leaked prior to
their 1988 rehabilitation.

The painted cladding in the remaining spaces (watch, T.V. and closet) is gener-
ally dirty and scuffed from years of wear, especially at walls and high use areas,

Interior Doors and Interior Surfaces of Exterior Doors: In general, the inte-
rior doors and interior surfaces of exterior doors appear much like the painted wall
cladding, scuffed and dirty from years of use.

The large rolling doors on the east wall have been altered, with the door to the
north having been changed to a swinging (hinged) leaf-type door. The original roll-
ing-type hardware appears to be in place, though it is showing definite signs of
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deterioration and rust. (It is questionable if it is still functional.) The tongue-and-
groove panels, stiles and rails on the interior have definitely been exposed to mois-
ture (the paint is peeling).

Built-in Furnishings: The desk in the watch room, cabinets in the T.V. room, the
work bench in the machine room, are in good condition, considering their utilitarian
nature and construction. They are painted, except for the working surfaces, which
are clear finished (varnish or linseed oil).

Floor: The exposed concrete floor in the machine room was painted gloss red during
the same work phase as the window rehabilitation in 1988. It appears to be in excel-
lent condition.

There is a raised concrete pad under the compressors. These have black and

_ yellow warning stripes painted on them and were not painted during the last phase

of work in 1988.
The concrete floor in both the watch and T.V. rooms is covered with resilient
floor tiles (the same as in the first gallery level of the lighthouse).

Engine, Electrical Motors, Compressors: The historic engines and motors are in
fair visual condition, with only spot rusting. Now that the windows are repaired,
much of this moisture-related deterioration should be arrested. However, since all of
these surfaces appear to be either painted or factory enameled, they are still sub-
jected to degradation (oxidation of color) by ultraviolet light (sun light) from the
unobscured windows.

Instruments and Plaque: The pressure indicator and shield-shaped wood plaque
on the north wall are highly significant as they have changed little since 1935 (see
historic photograph). Two of the three round gauges remain extant, a ghost of the
missing one is visible to the left (see existing condition photographs).

Tanks, Pipes and Conduit: All of these items are in fair to good condition, consid-
ering their age. For the most part, these articles are painted, with some evidence of
spot rusting and oxidation.
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2. RECOMMENDED PRESERVATION TREATMENTS
a. EXTERIOR

Roof: Due to the fact the roof is currently leaking, it is recommended that roof
shingles be replaced and painted (or pre-colored) to match the existing color as a
preservation treatment. It is further recommended that prior to any painting or
color choice, paint samples be taken from this material (or original shingles if they
still exist). Since replacement of roof shingles will be necessary, then all rules and
regulations concerning removal of asbestos substances must be adhered to. Replace-
ment shingles should match the existing shingles in dimension, texture, thickness,
exposure, and paint color. Other materials that might be acceptable are fiberglass,
cementitious composition (containing no asbestos), asphalt, etc.

Walls: Munsell color codes must be established for all components of exterior walls.
Unfortunately this task may prove to be impossible because historic paint was
burned off in the early 1980s without these codes being established in a conventional
manner, or samples taken and archived. It is recommended that Munsell codes be
established for the existing paint scheme, if no evidence of the original paint can be
found. It is also recommended that paint samples be taken from the walls.

b. INTERIOR

Features, Artifacts: These features, as previously discussed, retain much of their
visual integrity (none have had their paint removed). It is highly recommended that
paint samples be taken from these painted features.

Walls and Ceiling in the Machine Room: It is recommended that only the walls
be treated where there is deterioration and severe discoloration. The ceilings are
still in acceptable condition and do not require preservation treatment at this time.
It is further recommended that fabric samples be taken from the walls prior to any
future treatment.

Old varnish and linseed oil must be removed by the gentlest possible means
that will not damage the substrate. A high quality spar varnish, containing ultravio-

144




Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station

let light filters, may then be applied by brush in thin coats. This rehabilitation
treatment should be specified in detail by the Regional Historical Architect.

All historic ghosting should be preserved, its significance determined, and ap-
pearance recorded, prior to implementation of any treatment or removal of finishes.

Walls and Ceilings in the Watch and T.V. Rooms: It is recommended that paint
and fabric samples be taken from painted walls in the same manner previously stated
in order to establish the true historic color scheme.

All surfaces should be cleaned with a mild detergent, then assessed as to
whether or not they have lost enough historic integrity to necessitate repainting. If
s0, the Regional Historical Architect should be consulted for a detailed specification
for treatment.,

As with the machine room, any historic ghosting should be preserved, its sig-
nificance determined, and appearance recorded prior to implementation of any treat-

" ment (removal of finishes).

Glazing: To protect the interior further from harmful ultraviolet rays, it is recom-
mended that control film (95% Ultraviolet, 30% visible) be applied to the interior
surfaces of the window panes. This will help to prolong the color and condition of all
interior finishes and artifacts.

Doors: It is recommended that the large rolling doors and their hardware on the
east wall be rehabilitated. Paint and fabric samples should be taken as previously
described. This would require restoration of the door which has a hinged leaf, re-
quiring removal and discarding of this later intrusion. The original door to the south
would be used as a comparative guide for matching the historic appearance of the
new door.

Floor: Samples of floor tiles should be taken in the same manner as described
previously (there may be asbestos present). The tile floor in the watch and T.V.
rooms should be cleaned and waxed, with every attempt to reestablish both a protec-
tive and sacrificial coating.

If it is determined, after cleaning, that the tile has lost its integrity, or that it
has no historic significance, then its removal should be considered. New finishes
must match the historic (probably painted or bare concrete) as closely as possible in
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texture, and color. At the same time, the concrete slab should be investigated for any
signs of previous historic finishes. The Regional Historical Architect should be con-
sulted for detailed specifications to carry out this treatment.

Diesel Engine and Electrical Motors: It is recommended that a comprehensive
paint analysis be initiated on all painted metal components of the diesel engine and
the various electrical motors, generators, compressors, etc. that make up the me-
chanical systems for the historic fog signal. This should be done with the same
procedures as previously outlined. These paint coatings are sacrificial in nature,
providing a layer of protection which helps to protect these historic features from
deterioration and rust, as well as maintaining an accurate visual historic character.

Additionally, it is recommended that all machinery with internal moving parts
be “mothballed” with waxes, greases, etc. as may be needed. This will require the
consultation of individuals familiar with this procedure. It is similar to what the U.S.
Navy does when it mothballs a ship. The primary difference is that the historic ap-
pearance should be maintained as a priority for interpretive purposes.

Gauge Board: It is recommended that the historic gauge board, located on the
north wall, be restored to its original appearance (which is accurately documented in
a 1935 historic photograph). This would require removal of the two existing instru-
ments, refinishing of the wood plaque, with repair and replacement of the pressure
gauges. The missing gauge to the west should be replaced with one that matches the
missing one as closely as possible in appearance.

Electrical: It is recommended that a qualified electrician inventory all electrical
equipment, noting earlier and later installations to establish an evolution of the
electrical systems. At this point, a decision can be made as to whether specific items
have historic significance, and which, if any, might need to be removed to enhance
the historic scene.

Tanks, Pipes and Conduits: It is recommended that comprehensive paint sam-
pling be initiated on all visible interior tanks, pipes and conduits. This should be
done with the same procedures as previously outlined. Openings that can allow hu-
mid air to enter should be sealed as an integral part of mothballing other mechanical
and electrical systems.
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C. EVALUATION OF EFFECT OF RECOMMENDED TREATMENTS

DISCUSSION: The determinations of effects of recommended treatments are made in
accordance with section 36 CFR 800.3 of the Advisory Council on Historic Preserva-
tion’s “criteria of effect.” The following are excerpts from NPS-28, Chapter 4, page
3, on compliance with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966.
The Advisory Council’s criteria of effect require the Service to take a broad
view of effect and the associated range of casual actions. Effect follows not only from
actions having a direct physical impact on cultural resources and taken to preserve,
modify, or use them, but also from an undertaking near a cultural resource, inside or
outside a park or National Register boundary, that may introduce “visual, audible, or
atmospheric elements that are out of character with the property or alter its set-

ting.
Application of the criteria will yield one of the following findings for a project
(or recommendations): no effect, no adverse effect, or adverse effect.

1. DETERMINATION OF EFFECT

NO EFFECT: Recommended treatments having no effect on the character-defining
features of the Point Reyes Lighthouse and Equipment Building are as follows:

1. Archival (or appropriate conservation storage) of all paint and fabric
samples for both the lighthouse and the equipment building.

NO ADVERSE EFFECT: Recommended treatments that are considered as having an
overall beneficial effect on the character-defining features of the Point Reyes Light-
house and Equipment Building are as follows:
a. Lighthouse
a. Repair leaks at lantern astragals.
b. Restore painted wood floor on first gallery level.

¢. Take comprehensive paint samples.

d. Restore ground-level entry door.
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e. Change astragals to a contrasting dark color, based on the
outcome of historic research.

f. Replace glazing in first-level windows.

g. Restore weathervane base.

b. Equipment Building
a. Replacement of shingles.

b. Comprehensive paint, fabric sampling and analysis of all
interior and exterior elements.

c. Mothballing of all mechanical and electrical equipment.
d. Cleaning and painting of all painted interior walls and ceiling.

e. Stripping and refinishing of all deteriorated clear (varnished)
wall finishes in the machinery room.

f. Installation of solar film on the interior of all windows.
g. Restoration of the rolling door on the east elevation.
h. Cleaning, waxing, or replacement of all tile floors.

i. Touch up or complete painting of mechanical and electrical
components.

j. Restoration of gauge board.

k. Removal of non-historic, nonessential electrical equipment.
ADVERSE EFFECT: Recommended treatments that are considered as having an
adverse effect on the character-defining features of the Point Reyes Lighthouse and

Equipment Building are as follows:
No treatments in this report are anticipated to have an adverse effect.
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D. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER INVESTIGATION
1. HISTORIC STRUCTURE PRESERVATION GUIDE

It is highly recommended that a historic preservation guide be pro-
grammed for and implemented into the maintenance program as soon as possible.
This would provide the necessary inspection, maintenance, and housekeeping specifi-
cations. This is essential to the continued preservation of these structures.

2. HAER DOCUMENTATION

It is also recommended that Historic American Engineering Record documen-
tation be made of this site because of its unique link with early lighthouse technol-
ogy. This would be particularly true with the process of producing a fog signal.

3. PAINT SAMPLING AND DOCUMENTATION

It is recommended that any further paint work be supported by appropriate
paint conservation methodology, documentation, and storage (refer to various recom-
mended treatment sections).
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_ Historie Structures Report Point Aoyes Light Station

HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDINGS SURVEY (HABS} PHOTOGRAFPHY
Photographed by Dewey Livingston, National Park Service, September 4 aud 5. 1990

1. Lighth e Takih £ o m

'Cmn Guard ib;tum':jan {rear), eguipmant wrmﬁ;. i

2and 8 Lighthouse, esst elevation (left), north elivation (right).
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Historic Structores feport: Point Royes Light Station

4,6, 8.7, Lighthouse Interiors (clockwise from upper lefiy, pedestal und weight system, bmilder's plagus,
wateh room or ground level, lons and fight source.
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Stanon

Historis; Structures Report: Point A

B, 0. Lighthouse detajle concrete pattern (top), lantern interor (bottom).




Historic Struotures Report: Foint Reyes Light Station

0, 11, Exteri




Higtoric Struciures Report: Point Reyes Light Station

12, 13, Interiors, equipment building: view to swst wall (top), view to west wall (bottom)
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Higtonc Sructures Aeport. Point Reyes Light Station

14, 1B, 18 Interiors, equipment building: watch room (upper loft), gaige board and work berch
on porth wall (uppér right), compressors, (battam),




— Historic Structires Report: Point Riyes Light Sution

17,18, Trensformer lmlldlagmolnzﬂmmp) visitor conter (old garage) south
west elevations (bottom,
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Higtore Souctures Report Point Reyes Light Sution

18,20, Cisterns: west cistern (top), large original distern (bottom),
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Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station
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Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station
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Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station
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DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION. -

1. By whom described _‘{J.ﬂ)‘u-m:_ﬂ:l?ré,m._-_m date_Gha .I.“}.'_s‘.._lq%':[’
STATION. '

2. Name of station, _/Qﬂ_éﬂz—_lg . .zm-.,x.£ . £ 9la Lo
3. Characteristic of light, _EQAM_lum‘Mﬂﬁﬁ_ﬂ-wm,

-

PR

4. Geographical pos1twn of h ht: Lnt;tu:le, < WAL f 7.% ”3 longﬁude LZﬁ_ ..0.[_’_&/ g

5. Location, .O2% .__....»f:..f__ iﬁ g %. @:mr
}4._

TLesgeas, Mo Comalof Collfrroia. J@@ il BisX,
AL ttrid L E . h_ﬁﬁw*{_z{;.. .FM{M bt ouad, 5T allens. ﬂn-hu\...&mlmb’ {4..... _

194444 a/l.bu.q. K.t~ ‘ | PREMISES. _ S :-‘

8. Origin of title to site of station (public land, pun,haso, lense, nnhtary or naval rosarvatmnj, =

i W

BTl e LA A

: AT
7. Date of reservation, deed, lease, or permission to occupy, :

8. Avea of the entire site@eul. &)A (b) area mclosed, oy &) A_; (¢) type of fence,-B..mlr .Uua.u

o ____‘_..,

9. Dlst.nnce of tower from nea.rest. lngh-wntel mark, 271 1’ el ; iy 1Ee \
| Mo L
10. Wharf or landing on premises, " : e oy = S ._.

A
11. Means by which the light station may be reached and distance to nearest post oﬁioe ‘or. tow:;,!with

nsme,.Mﬁ?m__7i Soueas. tb:aﬂ; Oébgp-,_,_ e ?

.:.?nl:vitjgutm-, thﬁ ORI soi v

12. Tower or other means used for supporting the lantorn and apparatus, ...TOMFU\L.__.__{:.
- ) .o "_:‘:3:" L .._;‘
O S e o VT
=i : ces T
13. Number of separate lights, Om., il
B ¥ < e s efnia :!11". £2
14, When first built or gstablished, .......... L& 70 o ;:’
Y ; - ia } 5 - '-:

R R VIR S J——

|
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2 DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION.
PREMISES—Continued.
15. When last thoroughly vebuilt, repaired, or renovated,
16. Height of focal plane of lantern above mean high water (on sea and gulf consts) or mean lako Jevel
on northern lakes and rivers, e ?‘7‘( {uar .
17. Backg'round of the llghtlmusa upon which it is pln]ected as seen from seaward, . @a c.éu
18. Color of tower, and how produced, ..J.L.] A tam.—gﬁm&hkm@w.“emﬂf .

19.

Tower—Connected with keeper’s dwelling, and how; or detached, ...... D_LE&M__- .............

20.

- Materials of whicl; the tower is built, ..@ézé-:csmﬂ{-._g&m

Purpose of aid—Seacoast, lake coast, bay, harbor, channel, or range; for genaml or loeal - navi-

gation, ._es.l.a.n-amat e —

...............

21.
99. Kind of stairwsy and steps, &3 A.aau 5

. " . z
23. Bize of glass for glazing tower windows, . Do % 30% o

i 7

24. Number of windows in tower, and size of sash, .....-J wo...,... th,( X 35.3 i
25. Number and size of doors, gm,-SMM, {)meﬁ J&X"{" Ql-w\ql;ffaom .Z-‘;f.z, . 65 ..
26. General remarks upon tower aud site, ............. ﬁmn(. Lol i lins

27.
. If polygonal, state number of sides; if cylindricsl, state diameter, JA&M— e

29,
30,
31.
82.

83.
84,

Roof,

LANTERN AND LANTERN FIXTURES.
Ordor or class of lantern, Lﬁr Qadet.

Vertical or holical bars, . Y0aZie los IR eptte ... hoight glassd, T~ Ty ...

Number of phtes in height, J /I’A 28/, ; in each mde,

Thickness and mize of plates, ,91.2( A9 X3, .4 &ZS M? - W ZX X ‘f‘f 3

Unglazed side of lantern in plates and degrees of arc, ... hmJ - .
between what bearings (true and from seaward), _

Materials of which the lantern is constructed, BM %qb 2) o

G ocpan
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DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION. 3

6.

36,

LANTERN+AND I.AN'I‘FRN FIXTURES—Continued.

Ventilator ball, G o }(\hnn Lo

Lightning-conductor 8p1nd e, et ene e nn s emme e e mnan

37. Balustrade and ountside gallery, ... TV —
38. Lantern doors, and how fitted, . NM._ _____ e
39. Floor of lantern—Of what materials, . él&m.—_ .....
40. Watch-room door leading into lantern, and how fitted, . éhm.. . & MY‘L Rgi‘l-'m--,_
VFNTILATO RS.
41, In parapet, wall, or Jowet part of lantern, .5 DL gm.l', 94 LMM_ AL TREEN
42. Lantern ladders for cleaning plate glass, ontside, ... a t\m-fcl.ito.._u_
43. Curtain hooks inside of lantern—How fitted, AT -tn‘ﬁ‘_. 940 hoancas
WATCH ROOM. g
44. How fitted, _§.n.a1 .L\m._'n.sm.z e Dianls . Mo Aralia.. Qmu:c-m.)_
45. Bell wires, speakmg tubes, ar telephonea for calhng relief keepers—Kind, J.ﬂ_hgngm.m.n.l |
16, Where led, _.3 a--.@&mc!t;_.ﬁfan.m_.a&__nwxm_.
: ILLUMINATING APPARATUS, ETC. __ .
47 Kind of apparatus, _Qv)..ux:n m.st ...... ; intensity in English candles, X0, Q-b_b
48. Name of makar,a andsien ands Femanlac., EM l‘.mmm-, year mnde, AL .tf 62_
49. Marks and number on sppnratua, Yovas .
30. Order of apparatus, _.l._::__.QJLA.MJ . : $ .inai&e dismetél‘-
(inscribed circle, tangent to glass) of central drum, _._754;m.e.ﬁ.n.a,- -
51. If the apparatus is a parabolic mirror, state (a) diameter of opening, —..occcovreeee. ; (b) depth
of mirror, . _.......__....; (¢) its focal length, ._............; (d) material of which it is mado,
52. If revolving, time of revolution, ,gum_)’n.;mul?a.v = : :
(a) duration of flash, aues sec.; (b) duration of eclipss, _éﬂwm;_..... gec. v
3. If fixed, or fixed varied by flashes, state arc of each fixed part in degrees, ;
(a) duration of fixed light, ..........____ sec.; (V) eclipse; wareenreamenwn B8C. 5 (¢) flash, .. ... ... BEC.
} 202

R S S e -



-q-

Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station

4- DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION.

ILLUMINATING APPARATUS, ETC.—Contlnued.

64. Number of panels in the lens apparatus, . ZJL’é
&4 ch i Floah. 3% Lelifan. 12

55. Number of flash panels, ... i : arc of each, in degrees, J Lok O . Saa! ba.s.._.l.?u.-.-

56. Number of elements in each panel of central drum of lo;ua, ...... /7 ................................................

57. Number of prismsin each panel above ventral drum of lens, -./.HZ s are they fixed or flash? _-F&ﬂi

58. Number of prisms in each panel below central drum of lens, ___K; are they fixed or lash? J'__‘&.oﬁ :

59, How are the fiashes produced—By the whole apparatus revolving ............. ; by revolving belt
only ..E%.u)l...; if by panels or vertical elements revolving outside of fixed lens, state the

number of such panels, — -

60. If by vertical elements, state (a) the number in each panel, ; and
(b)- the number of elements of fixed lens covered by the panel,
61. If light is occulting, state (a) the characteristic, 2

(b) Between what time hmlta may characteristic be varied without structural changes in
. @ ;

mechsnism?

(d) Bize of sleove and amplitude of movement,

(¢) Axis of rotation of screens, horizontal or vertical, 3 (f) relation of axis

to vertical axis of illuminating apparatus, :

(g)- Do the screens revolve as parts, or independently, of illuminating upparatus? ... ...

(k) If about vertical axis, how many in circumference, 3 () time required
for complete revolution, ; () form, 23
(k) how mounted (see Questions 62-05), ) ;
(1) if actuated by clockwork, state order and maker, -

(m) date msde,
 If occultation is effected by valve, state (n) nawe of maker, : :
(0) pattern, : 3

(p) does it operate reliably?
62. If revolving, does the apparatus revolve on chariot wheels, mercury float, or balls?é&/ﬁmr.n‘m
83. If a charlot, describe it and state the nuwber and gize of each pattern of wheels in it, .[0 ﬂfM

b it Btk oL .?fu.é‘d,c{'vw P
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DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION. ]

64.

65.

66.

87'

08.

69.
70‘

7L

_'Lﬁuuam e & ‘{n.\. O, s..%\mr.L_-:%nL!u o

ILLUMINATING APPARATUS, ETC.—Continued.

If on mercury float, give (a) inside diaméter of trough, ; (b) inside depth of
trough, ; (¢) outside diameter of float, ; (d) depth of
ﬂo.at, ; (€) weight of mercury required, in pounds, .........ceccceeeoeee 3 (f) how often.
mercury is renewed ?

If on balls, (a) describe the construction of the ball-raceways, whether they are fiat surfacq or

semicircular or V grooves, : ; (b) isacageused toseparate balle? ____;
(c) state number of balls, ; (d) diameter of balls,
Clock cord or chain, kmd é-u. J_Cand._ e} BiZO, . ;’g weeeees} length, ﬂ M
17°3%

how lod:jo.lmmnm.ﬁla.nm_,_dam h\.'ﬁ.\.&: diam. and ]ength of clock drum, X_ﬁ
Length and inside dimensions of drop tube or weight box, . AN 0 {mq q faw_em_
clock wmght ULE'_LXA—_ poundas. ' )
Length of time clock will run after one winding, L..ﬁa.mm....lﬂMA
Does clock drive apparatus while being rewound ? Xo |
How is the machinery protected ? Bbx_\..?- a\.u:.'tgﬂ -
How regulated? j\sz_ Savaamsnie . _oeuated, . {ni._‘u .

72.

Describe the pedestal, MMQW-%LMmﬂL.&_AMw_H%

Lens protector—Is there one? N\a ; kind,

Draft tube leading into ventilator ball—Of what material, diameter, and how fitted and con-
nected with damper tube when in place, qu.-l,.ﬁ.b.m.h "ﬁ’“ i k—;.%\. o

(b) state where colored glass is attached, if to illuminating apparatus or to lantern, ...._...._.....

73.

4.

75. If colored light, (a) how is the color produced?

76. If colored glass is inside of illuminating apparatus, describe its form,
7.

Red sectors—Between what bearings, true (from seaward),

204
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6 DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION.
LABIPS, BURNERS ET
)651 ,/t'w: (727 3
78. Description of lamp: (a) give order, ....L . Qadenr. ... ; (0) kind of il mmant Ol ayan,

(c) intensity in English candles, .fa.»(;—n Fou L~, )

72,5
If oll, or oll vapor: M/m W,,f ,:&5:. Q{‘j /3? ﬁ 7/ 708

(a) number of wicks, or mantels, to burner, L Seoack .

‘(b) diameter of outside wick, ; (c) diameter of mantel, ._SSMM_,

(d) if more than one mantel, also diameter of circumscribing circle,

If gaslight:
(e) state kind, ; (f) number of burners, if more
than one burner in group, .. ; (g) kind of burner, }
(h) candlepower per burner, ..__________; () total candlepower of group,................... 3

(4) size of burner in cubic feet of gas per hour, ;

(k) consumption of gas per hour, cubic feet; (I) how is gas obtained?

If gas Is generated at station:
(m) describe generator, | ;

(n) state name of maker, ;

(o) date of pattern, : ; (p) maximum capacity per bour, ..

... cubic fest.

If comj)ressed gas Is used:

{g) describe oéntainer and give number in service, ..._______; spare :

(r) capacity, cubic feet of free gas; (s) to what pressure charged,

1bs.; (£) how is supply renewed ? ;

(u) if by substitution of full for empty-container, at what intervals?

79, Number of spare lamps at station, | Emu; =

80. Number of spare lamp burners at station,
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DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION, Y

CLOSETS IN TOWER. A
81. How fitted and used, L\.WmL ...... —\3 u.'\.Ll'..\'.u.-....---@,o.nmn........‘Zba.\..._.[?;ﬂ.s.»..c';_._.:

afy.. Yo Aensniong. WaTiaiak o Koo fipnrs fpmaTis . b

OIL HOUSE OR ROOM.
wilel Covsnsel doany, Yol ?M b L’t'uw.l.ﬁ,_
82. Describe (a) where placed and how ﬁtterl.(_Q_J.S.'.'L'!)u".&..Yb.i.._.ﬁxm--.b.&fi.pnl:tim_
/ /
(b) inside dimensions, ? X 7 ; (¢) materials of which built, _.Cr.m.m.n.ﬁ.,_b_m.;

(d) capacity in 5-gallon cans, -\%QﬁWMbnuﬁamtmmm
CLOSETS AND STOREROOMS.

83. Where placed, how fitted and used, Cm.l_;_.@.c\ng.?s-.am....-50.&41...&&;..&&@-_.{%.3&
duﬂiﬂ*-.&;um&%.hgsh:m.dmpm-m.h&-._Luu.a\,-tm..ﬁ.tewq.m%.la;u_.
84. Damp or dry, suited or unsuited to the purpose for which they were designed, ._....[QME..___..._

FOG SIGNAL. é:

85. Kind and character of apparatus, _QKMQWQMMJWB*JQLT-L ?
86. How much fime is required fo sound the signal? Qeé:nuz._i%Mhow long may the signal
sound its characteristic with the quantity of air stored under pressure 9.1%41.3..2&4:&4‘-_@

87. Characteristioc :

If whistle, trumpet, or siren : If bell:
Blast Sitent Blast Silent Silent . Silent
5 49 = = o — 5 eemabirokes o

88. What parts of the fog-signal machinery are in duplicate? .....SMAHMJ_..&%.&W oy,

lb.iné.e:.l.'tamm- _____ Sx .G.uu.._“thq_-.m&.-.o.{c..:-\?.om.‘ﬂ_l.urm__--.__.:_....,.._
90. Distance and direction, true, from lighthouse, ..9:-!::!:»1.--5.‘!’.9.&..:ba.l.---..--..\f.\r.mt___.._._..
91. Water supply for it, .vawmm,‘&mﬂm.tm.
92. How is it reached from the lighthouse? R ?DG.;M_L/M, Tronl .

206
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Historic Structures Report: Point Reyes Light Station

8 DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION.

[

FOG SIGNAL—Continued.

" 98. Description of fog-signal building or buildings, M‘_n.nal;m-ﬁml&mn\m _ﬁﬂ.n.c.q.;,
SSomglu naady . 1L 20" X BR10" dunside....]. Mrikasa, oo,
Cﬁaﬁai.é&a!’g?m.&ﬁ _.s.mL N3 e S, .
04, If a bell, state (a) weight, .....________1bs.; (b) metal, ... ; (c) diameter, ..o .. i
(d) height, ; (e) if struck by clockwork, state time it will run with one
winding, —.........._; (f) maker and date, :
95. If a steam signal, describe boiler: (a) type, ; (&) length, . ; (¢) diam-

eeerrj (€) maker and date,

- eter, ———weeeeer; (d) horsepower,

(f) Is there » heater? .........._ -} What kind? : ; whatsize? . 3
how mu::h does its use reduce the time of starting the fog signal?

96. If a steam engine Is used: (a) kind, ; (b) number of revolutions per
minute, ; (¢) dismeter of cyliuder, s (d) stroke of
piston, oo 3 (¢) horsepower, ;+ (f) maker and date,

97. If internal combustion engines are used: (a) kind of engine, fd-m %
() maker, Domh Fan 5w3«nu£a._0 Q4k Lo
(c) date, ; (d) nominal gize, .9 B lbl_; (e) horsepower, %0 = % 7.
N fuelued,m__, (g) how started, _-E j\.mui ' ' :
(h) kind of oompressor, &M Yalug) () ma]mr and date, )
TJeol c‘o.__.._cfhu.}amm '-&n.zln.._.__ M\
. Bh.ta if compressor is on same bed and geared with engine, or separate and belt-driven, or both
pmtons on same rod &nmmmmknhﬁmed or belt-driven, state ratio,
Describe compressor machinery, (a) diameter of cylinder, .._(.Q..__; (b) stroke of piston,
Q.:..._, (¢) number of revolutions per minute, fjﬂ....&.’:{d (d) character and size of air-

wrianlune sy L

sailot valves, .3/ i (¢ Kindof unloader, Yyt ; () dismter of delivery pipe, 358

- —
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DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION. : 9

O8.

94,

100.

101.

102,

103.
104.
105.
106.
107.

108.
109.
110.
111.
112,
113.
114.
115.
116.
117.

118.

FOG SIGNAL_Continued. 2 _ /9"

. - J’a #r , Y
{«) Number air receivers, _-3 ..... . (b) d_iametal:,i-.-..&.‘.’,._; (c) height/=/%.7._; (d) capacity cubic
feet, each, -..........; (e) pressure in ea.c'h‘,'.z!s d.f, (f) make of reducing valve, if used, ...._.__;

() remarl;zs, . T

If whistle, trumpet, or skren, pressure at which blown, éa-urm

Diameter of whistle, —.eeeoeeeeeeen.. ;3 height, vooeeee . ; distance between orifice and edge
of whistle, ; single tone, ..; chime,

If disk or cylindrical siren, ; diameter of revolving part, ... :
when made, ; by whom made, i
number, width, and length of ports, ; revolutions per minute, .......... :
type of governor, : ; condition of revolving part, SR —

If Daboll trumpet: Class, —— i Yeed: length, ... ... ;breadth, ... . __. el
thickness at base, ; thickness at tip,

If trumpet: Length, ; diameters, ; material,

Timing device, .....zg;:_an by(

Haigllxt. of whistle or trumpet above mean high water, __.._Q:{::mul...l_-Lb_:’bul___

Direction, ¢rue, in which trumpet points, B L TS

Pressure and recording gauge, M&N.M..b,ﬁnﬁmmhm-&ﬁn_ﬂn.;*.t_!mlm. Co-

DWELLINGS FOR KEEPERS. Bealo. i

Location with reference to lighthouse tower, _LQX-.'éMI._.Nh.VM-JM-LQO—%@-W R

Coloring, WM,..N@M,IKL&R“\» .

Materials of which built, W 00 A'L._ i
Number of rooms in each dwelling, .\5..m.km?x-;.-s..&.-.u.:.ﬁ.,.n.%..um..gamutm_
Describe heating plant, _\{;Ltmm--&Euum-.-xm&_--nmdx_ﬁhn&m&_

Number of keepers and assistants in each dwelling, 7\:.1;.h.meu-_..._-.!..m-.suﬂ;mdb.b.muh;\.
"‘Outhouses, -11_E.n:v.&n_.Hnm.._l._'i’a.!.uh.nmﬁknk!‘.,_.l.Em....-l..ﬁ.ma‘uﬁlbhm ) o I

Coloring, &MW-_MMA-RARoJ%m__ .....

l_Y
l
1
|
j
:
;
i
3
%
j
;
;
;
:

Paths or walks on the premises, mtm»%&m-ﬁﬁm'ﬁuﬂmhm .{:‘;‘L l

Area susceptible of profitable cultivation, hw 8 a
Area cultivated or prepared for cultivation, N

208
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10

DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION.

DWELLINGS FOR KEEPERS—Continued.

119. Character of adjacent surrountding country—=S8oil, sandy, clay, marsh, swamp, wood, fast ground,
or shifting sands, éh&«pM,MIEoc&-_-

120. Furnish following dats for stoves, kitchen sink, sink pump, and lamps in quarters:

AgricLEs. KEerER. 1t AsstsTant KEEPER. | 20 Assistant KEEPEw | 3D Amusraxt KEEPRR.
Wrallon & PAett (Mol & VAR [faastasn & TAST | Wakkay + FAT
Stove, maker, ...} [T asSoe s [Boabon Wsan . [ TeaSion. Massas ... | T Dealon Wrmads..
Stove, size, .o Vo] Tl B o Zom kKGNS B RAN | Tt 8D ...
Sink, maker, ...V W assaad Mo nssead [ Nenaend | Ve pscand o
" h, n " , 4 " - " T
Bink, size, A S L S | Y XA (7% S SEE W S . Jub A AN e .
Pump, maker, ___L..;-_L\N.t-h.ﬁmwiam '\'!‘.uh.\a.-.ecs.!mu-_.. Hepw nul.ﬂn.u & J}.‘un .Iho.-?lun.u ......

Pump, size, ... ).

A Mo

.......?.-'.‘.E&.t-.?u_&_-.. S % .

fr

LaMPE.

(Clve pame, number, and make of all
lampe (o suck svt of quarters.)

/m&../...
Zﬁ‘adxmmfb

H\a Rt Y
e Mo tran o

! Gle :
11.‘.2“2?;

[ bl Lo
/lﬁm.o-é..%.

121. How procured,-__....ke..m.. ol .
122. Quality, . Sy
123. Quantity ample or not for the station at all seasons of the }-'éﬂt’,

124. Liable or not to be injured hy the inroads of storm tides and seas, )101

WATER FOR FOG SIGNAL, DRINKING, ETC.

,},/ama.z-(?mﬂfto{&wﬂ%

135, If rain water in tanks or cisterns, what precautions have been taken to insure its purity? .. ...

Covamade . Reasamsd. . —onach.. hrsaase. Sd A ad —

126. Capacity of tanks or cisterns, and where placed, _glem.m_.l:!.Y.D.Qn-otmuu..-.._k-ﬂ;p.mhlﬁ
127. Tanks or cisterns—Of what materinl made, WOO&MQHWU\!:LLW--_

Yy ave Ml ans ~

§ e Wannran-
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DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION. 11
WATER FOR FOG SIGNAL, DRINKING, ETC.—Contlnned.
128. Is there a distilling apparatus at the station? YLCLM. .........................
Name of maker and date, oo ;
- eapaeity, ; when installed, ..o seondition, ... ;
BITETEIEY  ci e Rt e cemmerus s s 3 S50 S S TR S I S S U o s apwmmapmimeansass
129. If from a well, describe and give dePth, oo et e e et e
130. Diameter, ; Iinet}_or »ot,
131. Water obtained by pump or bucket, ; what power is nsed?
132. Distance from keeper’s dwelling,
HEALTHFULNESS OF STATION.
133. General opinion in regard to the healthfulness of the light station and vieinity, ... ...
‘ &_Mﬂlﬂ _____ %x £ .
134. Diseases—What are most prevalent at the station and in the vicinity? . Lotdare -

135. Do they prevail at particular seasons of the year, or not ? \\-0 N ; OAL . [Atodanigs....

136. Are there any local causes, such as swamps, marshes, etc., in the immediate vicinity of the

Yo

_ lighthouse which are likely to be the canse of these diseuses?

187. Would draining or other artificial means employed on the lighthouse premises be likely to

Yo

improve the, sanitary condition of the light station?

BOATS.

138. Furnish following data for each boat at station:

Tree.

Lemorm.

Wi,

Waex Doy,

Dare Recoiveo
AT Bravion,

1s Boar Frrren
wirn Bans?

Stiren Yo Wonk
Pzuroaweo.

...............

s b m e
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12 DESCRIPTION OF LIGHT STATION.

BOATS—Continued,

139. 1 power boat, kind of engine, ..o ; horscpower, 5
maker of engine, shop number, and date, ... Fiummassnisssansansminstntes
(o) type, size, number, and maker's name of spare coil, .___..
(b) type, size, number, and maker's name of magneto R R NN
(e) type and number of batteries, ........ S A
(d) propeller wheel, diameter, . _.........cooooiaecenne ; piteh,

140. Where are boats kept at station?

LANDING, WHARF, BOATHOUSE, AND ROAD TO THE LIGHTHOUSE.

141. Description, B.ﬁ.ﬁ.&.&m\um“\_—{m :anm..-_ S il W

LY

142. Distance aud direction of landing from lighthouse, . Glroul. D maduss m.. Lol

143. Hoisting engine, what kind¥ »Ln.m.l\ ...... - 3
diameter of cylinder, ; number of revolutions per minute, __.___....____. :
BEPOKE, v e e s kindof boiler, ..o ;

maker and date,

144. General Remarks: Q @M...

Uieae Toidile k. Boremmetodt. Gt

__7}12{w, -
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Ml SHEET pISTRICT 2th Naval Distiict

SUPPLEMENT TO FORM NO. USO-13

PROPERTY DATA - ITEMIZATION ACTIVITY Bt. K¢ Nos;& Lint Statloa
YRAR OF W0,
TIPS OF TR OF SIIz OF BUILDING CRIGENAL
wo. ACQ'M OR or
PROPRETT CORSTROCTION G OF ITBM T
Lena 1867 I Cesgrvstion 1l |83 screa Kx_a:..ﬂnl:L_{
20 | iLlks LY35 Cuncrete 1 : 3,000,00 &7
Steps 900 wod 11692 M. foat 500,00 &
Hoad 1938 | baco..oowed cragite 1 mlles or 21,120 sy, yds=. | Y HR2.65
Torce Y10 |1t rbad wirg, 1 (7200 £t & 123=7% poat 1,607,337
wbLer tank L3901 Cuitrdte 1 116,000 »al = 200 x 7% idchl L B0 2 )
Septle tauks 1930 linn, ba Gy ] LibioQ6 7
dlsctric systam 1933 for 14, ht 1 1 IPia pro.act Pe=l0 2.
Ta.enhone, pulue L s:0d i -
ainshed (uppar) 1900 Cuncrote 1 13750 py. fuat L Au2.50 2
Roinshed {lower) 1930 Conerato 1l Selll.B80 2 |
[ |Surfaced yard 1736 | ultu, )4 | 170 g foat 27,23 2
“eLer mystem 1935 | Firs arobuction 1 lwoing a7 = 15" fire wydrsute3,h28.98 2
Tan: s, wuler 1935 | ledwood 1 16,000 -ul. jﬁj:‘
Tiins, water LI07 | liadw 1. 132,000 »xl
Tanks, naier 1 28,000 Wl 1 327,60 7|
Tunis, water 1929 1477 ials 150,00 =
Tanke, storage 1929 Concrete Eals —15.00 Z }
Tanks, maler 1929 | Redwood 11 as77 culs 150,00 4
WG, BALET 1923 1 £l 1,000,004
T nis, water . 1900 1_ 16,000 _al, 6840 7
o @775 'Lartars | 1BBZ | Frase 1 [32% x 46" 1 alury ' rooss 4,550,00
~d. L0 Kounars .
Tsarlers - | 199 Frime 1 81 x 14" anclusod reur iy
#L, Kooners IB70 (Frame 1T 1307 x 49" Duolex 008 | 6,500,00 £ |
uarters .
A0l 1o quarters | 193l |Instollation of g lovatories 126,04 2
COtta e - et | TAT [P @‘- l,_Tooms 2,600,002 |
e = 50 FPrare [ X 40Y, Lrooms | 2,600,00 Z |
28 [Carcue 1933 {From
. Gara-e 1000 “rose b ZTohd0
15t rh.as liouss 1 Froo 1 1980 7 |
Cintern 900 | Co.c 52,000 cidka Z,000.00 L
Crruantor sho 1900  [Freve 1 :Ein-_;_za' 250,00
d sash house 1900 Frume 1 Qeam x 173" 500,00 7.
“Paint Locicar 1910 Fro.® 1 18" 5 Bt Qm 20020 -
_JCo:l hoise 00 ¢ 1l H%" x 260 292,50 2
Garuie, kuwpers J00 Fr 1 £'3* x 200.® WO00 7 |
Coi.c_ete & buick 31000 cnl. sach 2.052.00 2 |
Freso 1 5% x 56"
A * 11 [20% x 42 hih 7,500,002
|Cu:crate 1 * x 11t whZB0 2
| irou plye 1 L2e Bip 3P
 Froe L 1__A8¢ J 2,
S:lv, Lron 1 v w101 333,00 2
Firoos, =.icrete b7 ' x 100 300,008 )
91
Price 1 ' x LAt 5,5,1.70
| Prupe 1 Vhw - 25 .00 ¥
¥ra 1 I L L] 3000 F
[>1 1 LS L 50.00 2
Prums. 1 ; ' - L W25 )
[Pemm T ok gt 75,00 2
Fi.ame L jetan x 6o 100,00 |
| Suacrete i rullon _bBb0p |
| iloc, Joge nlty (ool 1 30L6E60, JBOORPY, SKYA
1940 | lsconsin ACL 1 461879, LBO00RPH. 4 cxliudar
Conorespor & 1 1939 [iul lvan iUeb 1 BL92 AP g 0138
Cotor 138 ae=gdia- C3 1 1% "T: 3OHP %6 OF
‘e aloual 1914 | Tyne "G 1135 ib. eir 1,365,000 2 )
dar 1979 IDiophons, sirule 1L :
|

nate o Bureh, 19L6 SHEET WMBER____ L
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MR SHEET

PROPERTY DATA - ITHEMIZATION

DISTRICT _l2th Guvgl Di.triey
SUPPLEMENT TO FORM NO. USO-13

sctiviyy _Pve Reyes Light Station

D4TE

TRAY OF ™y
TR OF TR OB EIIX OF BUILDING ORIGTNAL
" TROPENTY Aco's o8 ComsTICCTIN or o1 T com
32 otor £l buiioa AELE 1 i QOHPY . 1
lirht , lons . L 170, candle F
Yotor 1% teline HSYSLR W55 1800KPY oV up ¥
wotor & L9 3L, WAecons mi Alu L A BOURPE eycle
Pumn, cuntrifu, al }-4, | Daybon Dosd o 1 3 1" . vy
Hotor 14 Cutral slyctric KC| ) L725HPE +00
Comnreasor & L7115 Chicaro Pneumatic L |- 2,06PH, 1 cyl., 8 . <
S Lne 4918 Doak Uas Zigine Lo, 1 P, 00 2
Recelvars, wir L/ Culv, lﬁf Fi = 1° 3.65 2
x 1978 [ sl L 000 e pexSginch | ins.ce Z¥
33 |fose 190 | Colten, muvber coved L ! 120.00
Extinpulcher 1940 | ohief Croker Co. 1 _7.38
sRbiirulelhier 19 Sous acid ] u 'oﬁ
Ixtiulsier 1 lax todel 15 1 :
bl pulstier 1940 Para, on ?u_.n & 2 9.45b, J5037L,
v ¥ 30,
[=xtiin ulnters dvil) | alorl, fuem 2 |2 gal. 7m5 .
@ ers RZ |T02, wyne & [] SR, - iy 0. 50
Hm PROLLY;
I?m L} & 20
] I | -angh 2 [b” machinist 25,00 |
5 — w15 eh 76 aeHIATet : .00
DI prees TG0 T .00 |
& March, 1346 sExmy wowren___ 2
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1,
2,
3.

Se
. 6.

T

~_Dpen chute for ballast weights,

~

' Dui ARTMENT G¢ 1iANSPORTATION
“UNITED STATES COAST GUARD

oo

EMERGENCY OPERATION OF THE MAIN LIGHT

Start Colman lantern and place on pedestal.inside lens,
Reﬁ_ove drive gear from motor (Motor drive gear North side)

Place auxiliary drive gear in position and tighten ret ainer
nut hand tight, (Auxiliary drive gear West side)

0;'>un East _door to Clock work, release stopper on the governor
gear ; s ¥

o dhl

It will take one hour:for the ballast weigh ¢ to complete its
travel ard then must be cranked b ack up by placing the crank
on fitted shaft East side, Th ese processes must be repeated
ho‘n‘l’. R ' . £

I’or_' securing, reverse the process 5-4-3-2-1,

TIMING THE MAIN LIGHT

* The timing Marks are vertical lines inscribed in the flat area

direct 1y below the ringear fixed to the lens structure, These
lines are 187 degres apart . This is to facilitate timing by
:0ither one(l) minute for half revolution or two (2) minutes for
sone full revolution,

CORKECTION OF TIMING WHILE ON EMERGENCY OPERATION

Time in 'complete revolutions of the lens, Open East door.

In the cemter of the clock work is a fly weight and vane combination
directly abowe that is a set of varaiable vanes, Depending on

speed fast or slow. Set the vanes equally to' the amount of incline,
* If the speed is off more than can be controlled by the vane setting
: the next action to be taken will be to add weight or reduce weight
‘to the counte® weight, (add to increase speed and reduce to

reduce speed) .
H woy

INFO., POR REPLACMENT LAMPS

CRC WATTS: 1900
i BULB: . - T2
'BASE: MAG. BIP.
FINSH: . + CLEAR
NO. . QlogpT2gBR
214
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: DEPARTMENT OF i, )\NSPORIA{UN
~ UNITED STATES COAST GUARD

.UNITED STATES COAST GUARE %
LIGHT STATION POINT REYES _

INSTRUCTIONS FOR PLACING MAIN LIGHT IN OPERATION .’

.TO PMCE MAIN LIGHT IN OPERATION:

(a) OPEN CURTAINS:

(b) CHECK m.ﬁn IN LAMP INSIDE LENS FOR BLISTERING; (IF BLISTERED CHANGE)

(¢) PLACE M/L DRIVE MOTOR IN OPERATION; (SINGLE SWITCH TO RIGHT OF VOLTAGE NET,)
(d) PLACE DUAL SWITCHES,LOCATED OVER CIRCUT BREAKER BOX, IN UP POSITION,

(e) CHECK VOLTAGE ON MEEGER; SHOULD READ 12§ VCLTS,

VOLTAGE REGULATOR: ;

(a) VOLTRGE CAN BE RAISER BY TURNING DIAL ABOVE METER TO LEFT; TO LOWER TIJRH

DIAL TO THE RIGHNT
(b) IP VOLTAGE REGULATOR IS INOPERATIVE M/L LAMP WILL NOT GO ON. BYPASS REGULATOR
BY FLACING DUAL SWITCHES IN DOWN POSTTION, INPORM SPATION EN (RTOInGJLLS,

70 SECURE MAIN LIGHT

(a) PLACE DUAL SWITCHES ON CENTER;(OFF) POSITION.
b) PLACE DRIVE MOTOR SWITCH IN OFF POSITION,

'c)GLOSEGUMHHTOPRMEOTLWANDHIREI}EPRQ{éW.CHECKTOINSUREm

ROSALERS ARE ON CURTIANS, IF THEY ARE OFF REPLACE THEM,

-A/NGH.EKS ON LIGHT WHEN INOPMIONH]ILBEHADEB! HE16SBB-2J;IMANDTHE
_m—esm WATCHES

R . BM 1%&%%
- Offtder in Charge
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L)

LIST OF CLASSIFIED STRUCTURES (LCS)
PARK WISTORIC ARCHITECTURE DIVIIIOM
NATIOMAL PARK SERVICE. FT3-343-8149

PARK/REQGIOH REPORY

PAOE 311
oy 11787

FR-812

PR~314

L ¥4

PR-914

PR-017

PARK:POINT REYES MATIOMAL SEASHORE {85350) REGIOM,HWESTERN REGIOM

09227 MAME,STAIRMAY AND WINCH CLIOHT STAYTION) PERICE WISTORIC
COMP) CONCRETE MOT.CAT»B  SHOULD BE PRESERVED
TYPEIOTHER STAIRMAY /HINCH NR STAT'DETERNINED ELIGIBLE - KEEPER
USE:HO POTEMTIAL USE MOT., AGREE:NO HGNT AGREEMENT
LEGLWFEE SINPLE LEVEL OF EST:C
TRNT:STABILTZATION NP3 RESPOMSIBILTTY APPROV . ULT. TRMT 1 PRESERVATION
CYCLTC MAINT. HPS RESPOMIISILITY STABIL .CO3T "0
ROUTIME MAIWT. HPS RESPONSIDILITY APPROV. TRMT ,COST, 10
APPROV.ULY . TRMT NP5 REAPONSTRILITY APPROV . DOC » 0P
HABS, MAER) HR REFNUM)
TELT «RECENT CONSTRUCTION, $00X4FT
14043 NAHMELOMER WATER SHED AMD CISTERM C(LIGHT STATION) PERIOD.HISTORIC
COMPCONCRETE MOT,CAT 2 SHOW. D BE PRESERVED

NR STAY.DETERMINED ELIOIME - KEEPER

TYPE:NATER CONTRDL
MOT.AGREE N0 NGMT AGREEMENT

USENO POT[HIEIL USE

LEOLFEE SINPL LEYEL OF E5T)C
TRMT:STABILIZATION  NPS RESPONSIBYLITY APPROY.ULT. YRHT-PIESERVATIOH
CYCLIC MAINT. NP3 RESPOMSIBILLITY STABIL.COST:
ROUTIHE MAINT. WPS RESPOMSIBILYTY APPROV. TRMT ,COST: 723
AFPROY .ULT . TRNT . NPS IESPDHSIIILITY APPROV . DOC 1 (WP

HABS. MR REFHUH
TEXT+52,000 OAL.2 HALLS FUHHEL HITEI FRON CLIFF ABOVE

PERLIOD,HISTORIC

09228 MAME,EQUIPMENT SHED [LIOHT 3ITATIOM)
NP HOOD

o
TYPEBULL DTHO
USE.OTHER

MAT.CAT»3  SHOULD BE FRESERVED
MR STATH DETERMINED ELIOIBLE - KEEPER
HDT.&ONEE-NU MHONT ACRECMENT

LEOL.FEE SIMPLE LEVEL OF EST.C

TRMT STABILIZATION  MPS RESPONSIBILIVY APPROY ,ULT. TRHIr?lESER?ITIDH
CYCLIC MAINT, HPS RESPONSIBILITY STABIL .COST:
ROUTINE MAJHT, NP3 RESPONSIBILITY APPROV. TRMT .COST) 1]
l??lﬂ? ULT.TRMT.HPS RESPONSIBILITY A::RE:FREEIOHP

MHAB HAER «
TEIT-ZOKISFT SHINOLE ROOF,OME ITORY

NAME)RULTI PURPOSE BUILDING C(LIONT STATIOHW)

CONP: HOOD
TYPE1BUILDING

USE'WISITOR COMTACTY

PERIODHISTORIC
MOT_CATH»B_ SHOULD BE PRESERYED
MR STAT:DETERMINED ELIOIBLE - REEPER
HOT.IGREE-HD MGHT AGREEMENT

LEOL FEE SINPLE LEVEL OF EST.C
TAMTSTABILIZAVIDN  MPS RESPOHSIRILITY APPROY.ULT, TRMT (PRESERVATION
CYCLIC MAINT. WP REIPONSIBILITY STABTL .COST)
ROUTIME MAINT. MWPS RESPONSIDILITY APPROY, TRMT.COST L1}
APPROV.ULT.TRNT NPS REAPOHSIBILITY APPROY. DOC (MP
AER HR REFHUM:

HABS,
TEXT »20X20,H1P ROOF

10,2380

1/76

1,77

10/23/80D

1,80

1780

10/25/80

1774

1777

1023780

1774
1777

uonels 1ybry sedey oy wodsy sesmdnas JuoIsIH
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LIST OF CLASSIFIED STRUCTURES {LC3) PADE 312
PARK HISTORIC ARCM1TECTURE DIVISION 23/11787
MATIOMAL PARY SERVICE, F13-343-314%
PARK/REOION REPORT
STRC
MU Imcs
PR-019 09230 MAME(CONCRETL WATERSNED B CISTERM (LIONT STATION) PEREGO:HISTORIC
COMP s COMCRE MOT,CAT:$ SHOULD BE PRESERVED x
TYPEOTHER CISTERN WA STAT:DETERMINED ELIGIBLE - KEEPER 10-23/80 )
USE M0 POTENTIAL USE WoT, mnu-na NGHT AGREEMENT o
LEOL FEE SINPLE LEVEL QF ESTIC 2
TRHT STABILVZATION  HPS REIPONSIBILITVY APPROV ., uu TEMT \PRESERVATION a
CYCLIC MAINT. MPS REIPONSTRILITY STARIL .COST: "0 1476 w
ROUTINE PAINT. WPS RESPONSTBILITY APPROV, mn cosT 460,000 1474 S
APPROV.ULT , YANT .HPS RESPONSIBILITY APPROV. DDC » GHP
HADS: HAER) KR REFHUM) q
TEXT CONCRETE DOME SGFT DIABETER, 50400 OALLON CAPACITY 5
PR-021 09231 MAMEFUEL AND PAINT STORADE (LIOHT STATION) PERIOD'HISTORIC @
COMP (10D WGT,CAT'B  SHOULD BE PRESERVED ]
TYPEBUTLOING MR STAT(DETERMINED ELIOIBLE - KEFPER 10,21/80 2
USE+HATNTEMANCE NG, AGREE N0 MOMT AGREEMENT
LEGLIFEE SIMPLE LEVEL OF EST:C Q
N TRMT \STABILIZATION  MPS RESPONSIBILTVY APPROV,ULT, mnnntsmnnuu N
- LYCLIC MAINT, MPS RESPONITBILITY STABIL.COST 0 1-76
~ ROUTINE MAINT, WPS RESPOMSIBILITY APPRDV, TRMT .CDST ’0 177 S
APPROV.ULT.TRNT.NPS RESPONSIBILITY APPROV ., DOC 1 GHP 9
HARS WAER MR REFNUM a
TEET+&XBFY o
PR-822 09232 NAME:PUNPHOUSE (LIGHT STATION) PERIOD/HISYORIC ~g
COMP :HOOO MOT,CAT:B  SHOULD BE PRESERVED
TYPESUILDIND WR STAT.DETERMINED FLIGIBLE - KEEPER 16/21/80 @
USEQTHER MOT, AGREEHD MGHT AGREEMLHT -
‘LEGL+FEE SIMPLE LEVEL OF ESTC o
TRMT1STABILIZATION HPS RESPONSIBLLITY APPRGV,ULT.TRMT \PRESERVATION >
CYCLIC MAINT, HPS RESPONSIDILITY STABIL.COSt: 1-74 =~
ROUTINE MAIKT. WP5 RESPONSIBILITY APPROY, TRMT .COST: ‘o 1777 ]
APPROV,ULT.TANT KPS RESPONSIBILITY APPROV. DOC) GMP ]
HABS ¢ TR MR REFNUM: 5
TEXT 1 6XBFT, ADJACENT TO RAMP S
PR-023  09Z35 HAME(LIGHTHOUSE TLIONT STATIOM) PERTODHISTORIC
COMP « CONCRETE MOT.CAT 1A MUST BE PRESERVED
TYPE\ENG STRUCTURE NR STAT'DETERMINED ELIGIBLE - XEEPER 16/23/80
USE\WISITOR COHTACT WOT,AGREENO NGHT AGREELMENT
LEGLFEE SIMPLE LEVEL OF ESTIC
TRMT \STABTLIZATION MPS RESPONSIBILITY APPROY ., ULT . TRAT \RESTORATION
CYCLIC MAINT. NPS RESPOMSIBILTTY STABIL.COST 10 1474
ROUTINE MAINT. MWPS RESPONSTBILLTY APPROV, TAMT .COST) 14, 000 1717
APPROV .ULT.TRNT NP3 RESPONSIBILITY APPROV . DOC 1 GNP
- HABS HAE NR REFHUM
TEXT 20FT DTAMETER, 33FT NIGN
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